Exploring Men with	Children's Experiences	of the Process	of Intimate	Partner Ab	ouse from	m a
	Fema	le Partner				

By

Jacinta Rogers

A thesis

submitted to the Victoria University of Wellington in fulfilment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Science in Forensic Psychology

Victoria University of Wellington

Abstract

This research explored how men with children experienced the process of unilateral aggression from their female intimate partners. The current study was part of a broader research project investigating men and women's experiences of perpetration and/or victimisation of intimate partner abuse (IPA) in Aotearoa New Zealand. Semi-structured interviews with 13 fathers who reported experiencing unilateral IPA were analysed using Braun and Clarke's (2006) approach to thematic analysis. Four overarching themes about men's experiences of the process of IPA were subsequently identified. The first theme described the emotional pull experienced in the early stages of the relationship, consisting of two subthemes: 1) the honeymoon period, and 2) invested in the relationship. The second theme identified how men became stuck in their abusive relationships, containing five subthemes about: 1) the changing nature and severity of abuse 2) rationalising the aggression, 3) problem-solving, 4) the cycle of appearsement, and 5) gendered responses to aggression. The third theme described the negative impacts of the abuse, with two subthemes detailing: 1) the negative impacts on men, and 2) spillover effects on children. The fourth theme detailed men's experiences of breaking free and moving on from abuse, which consisted of four subthemes: 1) drawing a line, 2) post-separation abuse, 3) loves continuing pull, and 4) putting the pieces together. These findings add to a growing body of qualitative literature about men's experiences of IPA, highlighting the emergence and escalation of aggression, the maintenance and discontinuation of abusive relationships, and the difficulties men encounter post-separation. The importance of education about the nature of IPA and the development of policies and practices that help men overcome barriers to leaving abusive relationships are discussed. Future research is needed to examine the process of IPA for men experiencing bidirectional aggression and the recovery process for men post-separation.

Acknowledgements

First, I would like to thank my incredible supervisor Dr Louise Dixon. Thank you for your patience, enthusiasm, and warmth throughout this journey. I am extremely grateful for all of the advice and guidance that you have given me, this thesis would not have been possible without your ongoing support.

Second, I would like to thank my friends and loved ones for their unwavering belief in me. In particular, I would like to thank my flatmates Annalise, Tarah and Vince, as well as Whitney and James. Thank you for always being there – whether it was to give advice, share a laugh, or support me during times of stress. Your encouragement means more to me than I could ever express in words.

Thank you to my parents, stepparents and siblings for your ongoing love and support from afar. I would also like to thank Alison and Kevin for welcoming me into their home and helping me find my feet in a new city. I will not soon forget your kindness and hospitality.

Finally, thank you to the students in the Interpersonal and Family Aggression Lab for the laughter, encouragement, and entertaining office chats. Thank you also to all of the staff and students that are part of the Forensic Psychology cohort, for welcoming me into such a supportive and thought-provoking environment.

Table of Contents

Abstract	III
Acknowledgements	V
Table of Contents	VII
List of Tables	X
List of Appendices	XII
Introduction	1
IPA as a Gendered Issue	2
The Nature of IPA for Men	7
Consequences of IPA for Men	9
The Escalation of IPA Experienced by Men	12
Why Men Become Stuck	15
The Impact on Children and Parental Alienation	18
The Present Study	22
Method	25
Qualitative Analysis	25
Acknowledging the Role of Qualitative Researchers	26
Study Design	27
Participants	28
Procedure	30

Data Analysis	32
Results	39
1. The Emotional Pull	41
1.1 The honeymoon period	42
1.2 Invested in the relationship	43
2. Stuck	44
2.1 The changing nature and severity of abuse	44
2.2 Excuses	46
2.3 Problem-solving	48
2.4 The cycle of appeasement	50
2.5 Gendered responding to aggression	52
3. The Negative Impacts of Abuse	54
3.1. Negative impacts on men	54
3.2. The spillover effects on children	57
4. Breaking Free	58
4.1 Drawing a line	59
4.2 Post-separation abuse	63
4.3 Loves continuing pull	64
4.4 Putting the pieces together	66
Discussion	68

Summary of Findings68	3
The emotional pull68	}
Stuck69	9
The negative impacts of abuse73	3
Breaking free75	5
Recommendations for Policy and Practice79)
Limitations and Suggestions for Future Research81	Ĺ
Conclusion83	3
References84	ı
Appendices100)
Appendix A100)
Appendix B100	6
Appendix C107	,
Appendix D	₹

List of Tables

Table 1. Demographics and relationship characteristics of participants	29
Table 2. Summary of themes and subthemes	39

List of Appendices

Appendix A: Full interview schedule	100
Appendix B: Initial code generation	106
Appendix C: Table of compiled codes	107
Appendix D: Table of refined codes and descriptions	108

Introduction

Intimate partner aggression (IPA) is an international public health problem with farreaching consequences for victims, their families, and wider society (Edleson, 2001; Kahui &
Snively, 2014; Krug, Dahlberg, Mercy, Zwi, & Lozano, 2002; Lagdon, Armour, & Stringer,
2014). In the United States (US), one in four women and one in ten men will experience IPA
in their lifetime, and approximately 20 people per minute are physically abused by an
intimate partner (National Coalition Against Domestic Violence, 2020). IPA is a particularly
prevalent issue in Aotearoa New Zealand (NZ), which displays some of the highest rates of
IPA in the world (Gammon, 2016). According to the New Zealand Ministry of Justice (2019),
approximately one in six adults reported experiencing IPA during their lifetimes. In 2020, the
number of family violence charges finalised in NZ courts had increased by 13% from the
previous year (Ministry of Justice, 2021). Investigating this pervasive phenomenon,
particularly in NZ contexts, is therefore necessary for informing practical and theoretical
approaches that help to mitigate harms incurred by IPA.

IPA can manifest as a range of different behaviours, including physical and non-physical forms of aggression (e.g. Follingstad, 2007). There are ongoing discussions about the labels and definitions assigned to varying types of aggressive acts (Lipsky & Caetano, 2009; Outlaw, 2009). However, studies often include measurements of physical and sexual aggression (e.g. Bates & Liu, 2020a; Coker, Smith, McKeown & King, 2000; Krug et al. 2002). Another common, yet less frequently measured, form of IPA is psychological aggression (Laskey et al. 2019). Regardless of whether IPA involves physical, sexual and/or psychological aggression, there are long-term and short-term consequences for a victim's mental, physical, social and financial well-being (Krug et al. 2002; Lagdon, Armour, & Stringer, 2014). These consequences also extend beyond the individual. There is mounting evidence that children are directly and indirectly affected by their parents' experiences of

IPA, whether due to impaired parenting abilities or the negative impacts associated with children witnessing parental conflict (Edleson, 2001; Kaspiew et al. 2017; Sternberg et al. 2006; Wood & Sommers, 2011). Beyond the scope of the family, the economy also pays a price for IPA. In 2014, the economic cost of child abuse and IPA in NZ was estimated to be between \$4.1 and \$7 billion per year – a number that was expected to increase over time (Kahui & Snively, 2014). Thus, IPA can manifest as a wide range of behaviours that have negative consequences at the individual, familial, and societal level.

Though IPA has been historically understood as an issue of men's violence against women (e.g. Dobash & Dobash, 2004), there is mounting evidence that IPA "knows no boundaries [...] it is a scourge present in every subgroup of society" (Van Niel, 2021, p. 2). An individual can experience IPA regardless of their demographic status, sexual orientation, or gender (Dixon & Graham-Kevan, 2011; Van Niel, 2021). Furthermore, IPA can be perpetrated by a current or former spouse, and occurs within couples that are/were dating, cohabiting, or married (Lipsky & Caetano, 2009; Van Niel, 2021; Moffitt, Caspi, Rutter & Silva, 2001). The broad nature of IPA is also recognised in NZ law, where the Family Violence Act (2018) acknowledges IPA as physical, sexual, or psychological aggression, involving a pattern of behaviours that may be coercive or controlling and/or cause (or potentially cause) a person cumulative harm. In light of this, the current study adopted a broad and inclusive definition of IPA that encompasses "any form of aggression and/or controlling behaviour used against a current or past intimate partner of any gender, ethnicity, culture, sexual orientation, or relationship status (married, co-habiting, dating), and across age" (Dixon & Graham-Kevan, 2020, p. 299).

IPA as a gendered issue

3

IPA has been historically understood as a gendered issue; a perspective that has largely dominated professional and public understandings of IPA (Dutton, 2006). Patriarchal ideology and gender inequality were viewed as direct causes of IPA, whereby men were the primary perpetrators of violence and women the primary victims (Fine, 1985). Male-tofemale violence was one method of maintaining patriarchal beliefs about male dominance and female subordination within an intimate relationship (Ali & Naylor, 2013; Bell & Naugle, 2008; Dixon & Graham-Kevan, 2011; Fine, 1985). Alternatively, female-to-male violence was thought to be rare and primarily occurred in contexts of self-defence or retaliation against violent men (Ali & Naylor, 2013; Dixon & Graham-Kevan, 2011). This feminist perspective prompted significant progress in the establishment of services and legal changes to assist female survivors of IPA (Ali & Naylor, 2013). However, supporting evidence was largely grounded in data gathered from women's shelters and help-seeking agencies (Bell & Naugle, 2008; Dixon & Graham-Kevan, 2011). These institutions unsurprisingly found high rates of male-to-female violence, as men's voices were underrepresented in these spaces (Ali & Naylor, 2013; Straus & Gelles, 1999). Straus and Gelles (1999) referred to this as a "clinical fallacy," whereby findings in these samples were assumed to be representative of the wider population. Further studies have since indicated that female-to-male violence exists beyond contexts of self-defence and that patriarchal beliefs are not a primary cause of IPA (Ali & Naylor, 2013; Bell & Naugle, 2008; Dixon & Graham-Kevan, 2011). However, the assertion that men are the primary perpetrators of violence remains to be a controversial topic in the IPA literature.

Studies investigating the "true" prevalence of IPA victimisation for men and women can be contradictory. When gathering data from police reports and agency samples, studies find higher rates of male-to-female violence than female-to-male violence (Dixon & Graham-Kevan, 2011). Conversely, studies that gather data from the general population tend to find

women are equally or more likely to perpetrate IPA in comparison to men (e.g. Straus, 2009). Meta-analytic reviews of studies on physical and verbal aggression have found that, in heterosexual relationships, women were more likely than men to perpetrate these forms of aggression towards their opposite-sex partner (Archer, 2000; Stockdale et al. 2013). Furthermore, a national survey in the US found men and women were similarly likely to experience physical and psychological aggression in intimate relationships (Smith et al. 2018). Based on data gathered from approximately 8,000 New Zealanders in the New Zealand Crime and Victims Survey (NZCVS), women are 2.5 times more likely than men to experience IPA in their lifetimes (Ministry of Justice, 2019). However, this data was gathered using face-to-face interviews, and men may have been reluctant to report IPA victimisation due to shame, embarrassment and/or machismo (Ministry of Social Development, 2007). Furthermore, the methodology in nationally representative surveys can influence findings of gender symmetry (or asymmetry) in physical IPA victimisation (Esquivel-Santovena & Dixon, 2012). When a survey is designed to primarily focus on IPA, the study is more methodologically sound and produces more accurate representations of IPA rates. Studies that are more methodologically sound also tend to find comparable rates of physical IPA victimisation for men and women (Esquivel-Santovena & Dixon, 2012). The NZCVS, however, explored the prevalence of IPA as part of a broader question investigating crime and victimisation in NZ (Ministry of Justice, 2019). Thus, whether there is gender symmetry in IPA victimisation for NZ populations is unclear. However, gender inclusive, rigorous, and nationally representative surveys in other countries point towards comparable rates of IPA victimisation and perpetration between men and women.

To explain findings of gender symmetry, Johnson (1995) proposed that different sampling methods were measuring distinctly different types of IPA. Using Pittsburgh data obtained from interviews with 272 women recruited via courts, women's shelters, and the

general population, Johnson (2006) proposed and found evidence for four categories of IPA that were gendered and differed in severity level. Common Couple Violence (later termed Situational Couple Violence (SCV)) described a form of infrequent relationship violence borne out of conflict, rather than a violent partner's desire for control. SCV rarely had serious consequences for an individual's well-being, and accounted for husbands' (55%) and wives' (45%) aggression at approximately equal rates. Violent Resistance (VR) described a partner being violent in response to the other partner's violence and coercive control. Wives (85%) were commonly categorised by this form of IPA than husbands (15%). Mutual Violent Resistance (MVR) described couples that were violent and controlling to each other (50% for husbands and wives). Finally, Intimate Terrorism (IT) described one partner's violent and controlling behaviour towards the other. Johnson (2006) found that 89% of husbands and 11% of wives fell into this category.

Based on his findings, Johnson (2006; 2008) argued that population-based surveys found gender symmetry in IPA victimisation because these studies were finding instances of SCV; a form of IPA that differed in its severity, frequency and nature to IT. Conversely, women recruited from clinical studies were likely to be experiencing significant harm and coercive control from their male partners, and thus these clinical samples were a more accurate reflection of IT rates. Therefore, Johnson (2008) argued that the methodology employed in IPA research influences which form of IPA is measured. Furthermore, women's experiences of IPA required greater focus from agencies and policies because they were more likely to be experiencing a more serious and harmful type of IPA (Johnson, 2008).

Johnson's (2006; 2008) assertion that men are unlikely to be experiencing IT has since been challenged by multiple studies. Nybergh and colleagues (2015) interviewed 20 men who reported experiencing IPA from an opposite-sex or same-sex partner. None of the men who had been abused by a female intimate partner met Johnson's (2008) criteria for IT,

as the men did not report feeling controlled by the physical or sexual violence they experienced. However, the men did feel controlled by and fearful of their female partner's psychological aggression (Nybergh et al. 2015). Furthermore, none of the men's experiences fit neatly into any of Johnson's (2008) categories (Nybergh et al. 2015). Thus, Johnson's typology could not accurately account for the men's experiences of IPA, and may not be an appropriate tool to use when exploring female-to-male IPA (Nybergh et al. 2015). Nonetheless, further studies have found evidence of men experiencing IT in their oppositesex relationships. A study examining current heterosexual relationships in Canada found that men were significantly more likely than women to report experiencing physical aggression, sexual aggression, and/or at least one form of controlling behaviours from their opposite-sex partners (Lysova et al. 2019). Furthermore, comparable rates of IT were found for men (35%) and women (34%). Yet, more men than women experienced severe violence in relationships that were characterised as IT (Lysova et al. 2019). Additionally, Hines and Douglas (2019) tested Johnson's (2008) typology using a population-based and help-seeking sample of male IPA victims and found the reverse of Johnson's (2008) findings: women were more likely to be perpetrators of IT than men. Their findings suggested that sampling bias possibly accounted for Johnson's (2008) original findings, as data gathered from women's agencies excluded men who were victims (Hines & Douglas, 2019). Thus, there is evidence that men not only experience aggression from opposite-sex partners, but these types of aggression can also be highly violent and controlling.

Regardless of whether there is gender symmetry in IPA victimisation, there is overwhelming evidence that men can and do experience IPA from their female partners (Archer, 2000; Stockdale et al. 2013; Smith et al. 2018). This abuse can potentially involve highly controlling and violent behaviours, as seen in relationships that are categorised by IT (Lysova et al. 2019; Hines & Douglas, 2019). Taking a gender inclusive approach to IPA

research is therefore essential for informing evidence-based policies and practices that support male victims of IPA.

The Nature of IPA for Men

To date, understandings about the nature, patterns, and long-term impacts in femaleto-male IPA are limited (Sita & Dear, 2019). Nonetheless, there is consistent evidence that men experience a wide range of physically, sexually, and psychologically aggressive behaviours from their female partners (e.g. Bates, 2019; Bates & Liu, 2020b; Lysova et al. 2019; Machado et al. 2017; Migliaccio, 2002; Morgan & Wells, 2016; Tilbrook et al. 2010). The abuse can also differ in terms of frequency and severity for each individual (Lien & Lorentzen, 2019; Nybergh et al. 2015). Despite assumptions that female-to-male IPA is less frequent, less problematic, and less harmful than male-to-female IPA (Espinoza & Warner, 2016), men have reported experiencing severe forms of physical, sexual and psychological aggression (e.g. Bates & Weare, 2020; Hines & Douglas, 2016; Lysova & Dim, 2020). Men who experience severe sexual aggression from a female intimate partner are also more likely to be experiencing severe physical aggression and other types of IPA (Hines & Douglas, 2016). Combining data from two UK-based online surveys, Bates and Weare (2020) thematically analysed 41 responses from men who had experienced sexual violence in the context of IPA. Others forms of violence (such as physical and psychological) could be used in conjunction with sexual violence, and/or could occur independently of the sexual aggression yet contribute to a wider pattern of abuse within the relationship (Bates & Weare, 2020). Thus, men's experiences of IPA can vary in terms of frequency, severity and types of aggression. Different forms of aggression can be used concurrently or independently of one another, but ultimately contribute to a broader pattern of abuse and coercive control that is reminiscent of characteristics of IT (Johnson, 2008).

8

Another characteristic of IT involves an individual's experience of fear (Johnson, 2008). Fear is theorised to be an important factor in establishing control over a victim of IPA; however, studies that report on men's experiences of fear have produced mixed results. Prior research has found that men do not openly express fear of their female partner's physical or sexual violence (e.g. Durfee, 2011; Nybergh et al. 2015). Yet, further qualitative studies have indicated that men do express fears about various aspects of the abuse, including their partner's physical violence, concerns about their physical safety, and uncertainty about entering future relationships. The way these fears were communicated, however, were consistent with masculine traits of strength, power, and control (Brooks et al. 2020). Additionally, Sita and Dear (2019) explored four case studies of Australian men's experiences of IPA, who were suspected of experiencing IT from a female intimate partner. Participants reported experiencing multiple forms of physical, psychological and sexual aggression which undermined men's self-worth and allowed control to be established over them (Sita & Dear, 2019). Men reported being afraid of various aspects of the relationship, such as being concerned for their own well-being, the safety of their partner, the safety of their children, and of further abuse. In contrast to research on women's experiences of IPA, however, men did not report being fearful for their life (Sita & Dear, 2019). Men also struggled to recognise their experiences as IPA, and reported accompanying feelings of shame about being a victim due to implications about what this meant for their masculinity (Sita & Dear, 2019). Thus, men's experiences of IPA showed some discrepancy from women's, indicating that men's experiences need to be explored separately.

To date, few studies have explored female-to-male IPA post-separation (e.g. Bates, 2019). A study conducted with Australian parents found that mothers (29%) and fathers (21%) experienced post-separation abuse (Kaspiew et al. 2017). Once a relationship had been terminated, experiences of emotional aggression were more common than physical

aggression. Longitudinal data also indicated that experiences of physical violence tended to diminish the longer that a couple was separated, but emotional aggression remained prevalent even 5 years post-separation (Kaspiew et al. 2017). Bates (2019) explored men's experiences of post-separation aggression and coercive control by thematically analysing interviews with 13 men. Abuse persisted and escalated for some time after the men's relationships had ended. Men with children were at particular risk for ongoing violence, as organising contact arrangements maintained contact with and opportunities for abuse from their ex-partners. Physical aggression largely stopped due to a lack of physical proximity to their ex-partners. However, coercive control persisted post-separation through harassment via children, social media and email, and financial control. False allegations of abuse could also be used to control the men, sometimes resulting in police involvement or being suspended from their employment. Children were a commonly utilised medium through which ex-partners would continue to exert control over the men, either by withholding contact, manipulating the parental relationship, or directly using the child to perpetuate abuse. Subsequently, men reported mental health issues, ongoing fear of their ex-partner's aggression and difficulties entering new relationships (Bates, 2019). Thus, the end of an abusive relationship does not necessarily mean cessation of IPA, and psychological aggression may persist even when physical violence diminishes. Children, in particular, feature heavily in men's experiences of post-separation abuse, whereby they can be used to maintain contact with and control over men.

Consequences of IPA for Men

Experiencing any form of IPA can produce cumulative harm across different aspects of men's lives (Krug et al. 2002; Lagdon, Armour, & Stringer, 2014). Men that endure chronic and severe levels of aggression are more likely to experience serious impacts on their physical and emotional health (Lysova & Dim, 2020). Feelings of social isolation are not

uncommon (Bates & Liu, 2020a; Machado et al. 2017; Migliaccio, 2002; Morgan & Wells, 2016), and substance misuse is often reported as a means of coping (Machado et al. 2017; Migliaccio, 2002; Perryman & Appleton, 2016). Men can also sustain long-term physical injuries and health complications (Bates & Liu, 2020a), and develop symptoms of depression, post-traumatic stress disorder (PTSD) and suicidal ideation that can persist for years after the abusive relationship has ended (Bates & Liu; 2020a; Machado et al. 2017; Migliaccio, 2002; Perryman & Appleton, 2016). Psychological aggression reportedly produces the most distressing consequences for men (Machado et al. 2017; Perryman & Appleton, 2016), which has been supported by findings from quantitative studies. A longitudinal study with 103 newlyweds assessed associations between psychological and physical aggression and the development of depression and anxiety symptoms. Experiencing psychological aggression was strongly associated with depression and anxiety symptoms for men and women, independent of any physical aggression they were experiencing. Physical aggression, on the other hand, was not as strongly associated with these symptoms once psychological aggression was controlled for. Thus, in regards to the development of depression and anxiety, psychological aggression was potentially more detrimental than physical aggression (Lawrence, Yoon, Langer, & Ro, 2009). However, the couples in this study reported relatively stable and largely bidirectional experiences of psychological aggression (Lawrence et al. 2009). Therefore, findings may not be generalizable to men's experiences of unidirectional IPA.

Beyond an individual's physical and mental well-being, IPA victimisation can also negatively impact current and future relationships. Panuzio and DiLillo (2010) evaluated associations between physical, psychological and sexual aggression, and couples' marital satisfaction over three years of marriage. For both husbands and wives, higher levels of all types of IPA victimisation were significantly associated with lower martial satisfaction, even

when controlling for initial satisfaction. Psychological aggression was a particularly strong predictor of marital satisfaction (Panuzio & DiLillo, 2010), adding to prior research that this form of aggression can be particularly damaging in intimate relationships (e.g. Lawrence et al. 2009). Similarly, Hellemans and colleagues (2015) explored how any lifetime experience of IPA impacted on a person's mental, relational and sexual well-being. Higher levels of IPA victimisation had adverse effects on all three life domains for both genders. Psychological aggression was associated with poorer mental health regardless of a victim's gender, whereas physical aggression was more harmful for women than men. Lower levels of relationship satisfaction and insecure attachment styles were also correlated with psychological or physical IPA victimisation (Hellemans et al. 2015). However, as the study was not longitudinal, it cannot be determined whether insecure attachment styles predisposed victims to experiencing IPA or whether experiencing IPA facilitated the development of an insecure attachment style. Finally, for men, psychological IPA was associated with an impaired ability to communicate sexual needs and wishes to their partner. Increased levels of physical and psychological aggression were also related to decreased levels of sexual satisfaction and increased probability of sexual dysfunction (Hellemans et al. 2015). Thus, IPA victimisation can be detrimental to a person's happiness in their current relationships, and can also negatively impact future relationships.

A person's professional life can also be negatively impacted by IPA. A qualitative survey of 823 male and 1,550 female employees from various organisations were asked about any aggression they had experienced over the past 12 months from intimate partners, and also their experiences of IPA over their lifetime (Reeves & O'Leary-Kelly, 2007). Individuals who had experienced IPA during their lifetime were more likely to be absent from work than non-victims, highlighting the long-term effects that can result from IPA. On the other hand, current victims were more distracted at work than non-victims. The findings indicated that

current victims attended work but had difficulty focussing, whereas lifetime victims had issues with attendance but were engaged once they were there (Reeves & O'Leary-Kelly, 2007). Reeves and O'Leary-Kelly (2007) proposed that current victims might be using work as an escape route from home, or employment gave current victims a feeling of control over their lives that they were otherwise lacking in their relationships. Given the multitude of short-term and long-term consequences associated with past or current IPA victimisation, developing evidence-based interventions and preventions for female-to-male IPA is essential for mitigating harm. Qualitative studies are particularly useful for gaining detailed insight into men's personal experiences and perceptions of how abuse plays out with their female intimate partners.

The Escalation of IPA Experienced by Men

Quantitative studies based on community samples have broadly identified patterns of persistence and desistance in IPA. Longitudinal studies with married couples have found that the use of physical aggression in intimate relationships substantially decreases over time, but perpetration of psychological aggression remains consistent (Fritz & O'Leary, 2004; Vickerman & Margolin, 2008). However, the infrequency and low severity of aggression reported in these community samples suggested that researchers were measuring instances of SCV (Fritz & O'Leary, 2004). Qualitative studies that include men's experiences of severe female-to-male IPA have found that aggression does not decrease over time; rather, the severity and frequency of IPA reportedly escalates (Allen-Collinson, 2009; Dixon et al. 2020; Migliaccio, 2002; Morgan & Wells, 2016). In Migliaccio's (2002) narrative analysis of abused men, men described the relationship as initially experiencing a "honeymoon period" where their female partner exhibited no notable signs of aggression. Once a serious commitment had occurred (such as pregnancy or marriage), men reported that their opposite-sex partner became increasingly violent (Migliaccio, 2002). Thus, contrary to quantitative

findings from community samples (e.g. Fritz & O'Leary, 2004; Vicerkman & Margolin, 2008), different forms of aggression (including physical) escalated after marriage. Other qualitative studies have similarly found that female-to-male IPA changed, escalated, and became more pervasive over time (Allen-Collinson, 2009; Dixon et al. 2020; Morgan & Wells, 2016). Some men describe verbal aggression leading into physical aggression during arguments, whereas other men report that the escalation from verbal into physical aggression gradually occurred over the course of the relationship (Bates & Liu, 2020b). Alternatively, some men report that physical aggression preceded psychological aggression in their relationship (Dixon et al. 2020). Dixon and colleagues (2020) proposed that the escalation of IPA was part of a normalisation process that increased men's acceptance of later abuse, with women's aggression evolving in line with what men would tolerate. Thus, IPA does not always desist over time. Rather, for some men, female-to-male IPA adapts and changes in terms of the severity, frequency, and types of aggression used.

Despite the escalating aggression, men are often reluctant to defend themselves or physically retaliate against their female partners. After thematically analysing a series of online focus groups with men from Australia, Canada, the UK and the US, Dixon and colleagues (2020) found that the nature of the abuse was largely one-sided, with men reporting that their female partners controlled them through a variety of means including physical violence, surveillance, and sex. Though aggression continued to escalate over the course of the relationship, the men rarely physically defended themselves against their female partner's aggression (Dixon et al. 2020). Other qualitative studies have also reported on men's reluctance to defend themselves from their female partners, with men being more likely to resort to trying to calm their partner down (Machado et al. 2017). Reasons for this reluctance included being afraid of escalating their partner, believing that they deserved the abuse, afraid of being labelled as the abusive partner, and/or believing that it was socially

unacceptable to hit a woman (Allen-Collinson, 2009; Bates & Liu, 2020b; Lien & Lorentzen, 2019; Migliaccio, 2002). While some men have reported hitting their female partners in self-defence or restraining their partners to prevent harm to either party, such actions tended to incite negative repercussions for men (Lien & Lorentzen, 2019; Migliaccio, 2002). Abusive female partners would threaten to report the men for assault, which increased men's anxiety about being falsely accused as an abuser or arrested (Migliaccio, 2002).

Men's fears about false allegations of abuse are not unfounded. Tilbrook and colleagues (2010) found that abusive female partners could take advantage of wider societal assumptions that men are primarily abusers and women primarily victims. Thus, women would manipulate legal and administrative resources against their male partners. Instances of this form of abuse, termed legal-administrative abuse by Tilbrook and colleagues (2010), have appeared in other qualitative studies, where abusive female partners have falsely informed other parties that the abused man is the perpetrator (e.g. Machado et al. 2017; Morgan & Wells, 2016). Bates' (2019) qualitative study of men's experiences of post-separation IPA found that false allegations of abuse even occurred after the relationship had ended and could be used to separate children and fathers. Thus, even post-separation, aggression perpetrated in female-to-male IPA can continue to adapt and evolve. Female partners can manipulate gendered stereotypes of IPA in services and agencies to maintain control over various aspects of men's lives.

Men experience a variety of abusive from female partners, which often escalate over the course of the relationship and can continue after the relationship has dissolved (Bates, 2019; Bates & Liu, 2020b; Lysova et al. 2019; Machado et al. 2017; Migliaccio, 2002; Tilbrook et al. 2010). Despite this escalation, men are reluctant to defend themselves against their female partner's aggression due to fears of false allegations of being the abuser and not being believed by external parties (Machado et al. 2017; Morgan & Wells, 2016; Tilbrook et

al. 2010). While qualitative studies have explored the nature of men's abusive experiences and the subsequent consequences in detail, to date, there is a dearth of research that has explored the early stages of abusive relationships and the changing nature of abuse for men. Understanding the progression of abuse would be useful for informing further research about the normalisation of aggression during an abusive relationship and early intervention strategies.

Why Men Become Stuck

Despite the emergence and escalation of aggression in their intimate relationships, it is not uncommon for men to remain with their female partners (Migliaccio, 2002). As such, men often utilise a range of coping strategies to withstand the aggression they are experiencing. Allen-Collinson (2009) analysed five interviews and the personal diary of an abused man using a topical life history approach. The man described various strategies for managing and avoiding his wife's aggression. These included trying to anticipate when she would be aggressive, blaming himself for the aggression, and avoiding his partner to minimise opportunities for abuse to occur (Allen-Collinson, 2009). Some men also report using their jobs to escape the abuse (Lien & Lorentzen, 2019), or attempting to "solve" any problems they believed were causing the aggression – including intensely monitoring their own behaviours to avoid upsetting their partners (Dixon et al. 2020). Additionally, men in Migliaccio's (2002) study described strategies such as avoiding their partner, engaging in behaviours that would placate or appease their partner, disassociating during aggression, defending themselves, or denying that any harm was being inflicted upon them. Thus, men have reported numerous coping strategies to manage female-to-male IPA. Instead of leaving their partners, men find ways to tolerate and withstand the aggression they experiencing.

Relationships can also be maintained when men rationalise or excuse the aggression perpetrated by their female partners (Dixon et al. 2020). Migliaccio (2002) found that men justified their female partner's aggression by attributing blame to external factors, their partner's childhood experiences and/or their partner's past trauma (Migliaccio, 2002). Men were particularly likely to believe that their partner was not responsible for the aggression if they exhibited "Jekyll-Hyde" behaviours, where they could remain calm and composed in some situations but become aggressive in others (Migliaccio, 2002). Additionally, Nayback-Beebe and Yoder (2012) conducted three interviews with a man who had experienced abuse from a female partner and found that he went through a constant process of redefining his beliefs about what he thought was "acceptable" in a relationship (Nayback-Beebe & Yoder, 2012). This ongoing process of justifying and rationalising abusive behaviours prompts men to accept their partner's aggression, preventing the men from recognising the abuse for what it is and potentially maintaining the relationship (Lien & Lorentzen, 2019; Migliaccio, 2002).

While few studies have specifically explored the obstacles that deter men from leaving abusive relationships, various reasons have been reported in qualitative studies. Bates and Liu (2020b) thematically analysed answers to an online questionnaire about men's experiences of abuse from female intimate partners. As part of their findings, men described numerous reasons for being reluctant to leave their female partners. These included a strong sense of commitment to their partners, not recognising they were being abused due to a lack of injuries, and/or the abuse gradually eroding their self-esteem until they believed that they did not deserve a better partner (Bates & Liu, 2020b). Similar reasons have also been reported in other qualitative studies of men's experiences of IPA (Corbally, 2014; Lien & Lorentzen, 2019; Migliaccio, 2002), as well as partner's promising that they will change their behaviours (Migliaccio, 2002). The slow progression of the abuse and the stress of the relationship can also make it difficult for men to recognise their experiences as IPA (Lien &

Lorentzen, 2019; Morgan & Wells, 2016). Additionally, fears of parental alienation and separation from their children are commonly-reported reasons to remain with aggressive female partners (Bates & Liu, 2020b; Lien & Lorentzen, 2019; Migliaccio, 2002; Morgan & Wells, 2016). These are not unfounded concerns, as some men have described ex-partners exerting ongoing control by separating men from their children or manipulating father-child relationships, particularly after the relationship has been terminated (Bates, 2019; Bates & Liu, 2020b). Thus, there are many barriers that discourage men from leaving their abusive partners, particularly when children are involved.

In comparison to women survivors of IPV, there are limited studies exploring how overcome barriers to leaving abusive relationships (e.g. Barios et al. 2020; Enander, 2011; Scheffer Lindgren & Renck, 2008). Of the studies that are gender inclusive, samples often include disproportionately more female participants than male (e.g. Dziewa & Glowacz, 2021; Murray, Crowe and Flasch, 2015). Murray, Crowe and Flasch (2015) distributed an online survey to men and women of various sexual orientations, to explore the external and internal "turning points" that prompted a person to terminate an abusive relationship. They found that internal factors such as recognising the persistence and escalating severity of the violence, recognising the toll that the abuse had taken on them, and changing their perspectives about their relationship, the abuse, or their partners were commonly reported reasons for adults terminating an abusive relationship (Murray et al. 2015). External factors included education about abusive relationships and recognising the applicability to their own situation, the involvement of external parties such as friends, families, or law enforcement, recognising the impact that the abuse was having on the children, or the abuser terminating the relationship (Murray et al. 2015). However, the generalisability of this study to men's experiences of IPA is unknown, as only 2.6% of the participants identified as male (Murray et al. 2015). Nonetheless, qualitative studies into men's experiences of IPA have reported

similar findings to Murray and colleagues (2015; Allen-Collinson, 2009; Nayback-Beebe & Yoder, 2012; Lien & Lorentzen, 2019) as well as additional reasons such as men feeling confident that their children would be safe with their partner (Allen-Collinson, 2009) and coming to a gradual realisation that their partners were not going to change (Migaliaccio, 2002). Thus, qualitative studies indicate that a variety of external and internal influences serve as "turning points" in men's decisions to leave an abusive relationship. However, future research would benefit from exploring men's decision-making processes throughout the relationship to further understandings about barriers and facilitators to leaving.

Various factors appear to keep men "stuck" in abusive relationships, such as developing coping strategies to deal with IPA and learning to accept the abuse by justifying and excusing their partner's behaviours (Bates & Liu, 2020b; Machado et al. 2016; Migliaccio, 2002; Morgan & Wells, 2016). Compared to women's experiences of IPA, few studies have explored facilitators to men leaving abusive relationships. Future studies are needed to understand the types of obstacles that men experience when leaving abusive partners, how men overcome these barriers, and men's progression through different stages in their decision-making process. Children, in particular, feature heavily in father's reasons for staying as well as leaving their abusive female partners, and add an additional layer of complexity to men's experiences of abuse (Allen & Collinson, 2009; Bates & Liu, 2020b; Dixon et al. 2020; Lien & Lorentzen, 2019; Migliaccio, 2002).

The Impact on Children and Parental Alienation

Children play a significant role in the types of controlling behaviours that fathers experience from female partners during and after the relationship. During the relationship, female partners could abuse fathers in front of their children, threaten to separate fathers from their children (Corbally, 2014), threaten to hurt the children, and/or get themselves pregnant

without the man's knowledge or consent (Bates & Liu, 2020b). Post-separation, children remained to be a medium through which to control and exercise power over the men, as women would limit men's contact with their children, manipulate and damage father-child relationships, instigate lengthy custody battles, and make false allegations of abuse that impacted fathers' ability to access their children (Bates, 2019; Corbally, 2014; Dixon et al. 2020; Morgan & Wells, 2016). In fact, some men reported that being unable to be a father was one of the most significant and long-lasting forms of IPA that they had experienced (Corbally, 2014).

Children also suffer when their fathers are abused. Men who experience severe sexual aggression are more likely to have children with a range of mental health consequences (Hines & Douglas, 2016). Among preschool children, higher levels of sexual aggression for men were correlated with affective, oppositional defiant, and pervasive development problems for their children. For school-age children, father's severity of sexual aggression victimisation from their partners was associated with all of the assessed mental health problems, including attention deficit/hyperactivity problems, affective problems, anxiety problems, conduct problems, oppositional defiant problems, and somatic problems (Hines & Douglas, 2016). This association between father's severe experiences of sexual aggression and children's mental health problems remained significant for attention deficit/hyperactivity and affective problems when controlling for factors such as child demographics, children's exposure to violence in the community, children's exposure to other forms of IPV between their parents, and fathers' reported perpetration of sexual IPA (Hines & Douglas, 2016). While the study did not assess whether these children had witnessed sexual aggression against their fathers, findings suggest that merely being in a home where fathers are experiencing sexual IPA can negatively impact on children's mental well-being. Similar to mothers who experience IPA (Kaspiew et al. 2017), these consequences may result from

impaired parenting abilities, such as being less available to the child, more hostility and irritability in their interactions with the child, and less consistent discipline (Hines & Douglas, 2016).

Separation and parental alienation also adversely affects fathers and their children (Bates & Liu, 2020b). Parental alienation is "a mental state in which a child, usually one whose parents are engaged in a high-conflict separation or divorce, allies himself strongly with one parent (the preferred parent) and rejects a relationship with the other parent (the alienated parent) without legitimate justification" (Sher, 2015, p.1). The preferred parent manipulates the child's perception of and relationship with the alienated parent, leading the child to reject and (in severe cases) even become physically aggressive towards the alienated parent (Sher, 2015). Children that have been alienated from their parents can experience an extensive range of short-term and long-term consequences (Bentley & Matthewson, 2020; Sher, 2015). Depression, low self-esteem, post-traumatic stress disorder, anxiety, panic attacks, substance abuse, and educational and employment problems are just some of the negative effects that are associated with being alienated from a parent (Bentley & Matthewson, 2020; Sher, 2015). Adult participants – who had been alienated from one of their parents as a child – reported relationship problems in terms of relating to others, finding themselves in dysfunctional and abusive relationships, and struggling to maintain healthy relationships (Bentley & Matthewson, 2020). They also reported being physically and emotionally abused by the alienating parent (Bentley & Matthewson, 2020). The list of consequences of parental alienation on children are thus extensive and can have long-term impacts that persist in adulthood.

For fathers who have been alienated from their children, the effects of parental alienation are similarly distressing. Depression, suicidal ideation, alcohol/drug use, and feelings of helplessness, powerlessness, and growing despair are all reported consequences of

fathers being separated from their children (Sher, 2015). Poustie, Matthewson, and Balmer (2018) thematically analysed answers to an online survey about alienated parents' experiences of separation from their children. Targeted parents reported a range of mental health effects following parental alienation, including despair, isolation, and psychological disorders such as depression. They also expressed concerns about the short-term and long-term impacts the alienation would have on their children growing up (Poustie et al. 2018). The targeted parents considered parental alienation to be a form of family violence, not only towards them but also towards their children, with some even reporting experiencing IPA before the separation (Poustie et al. 2018). Given the host of consequences already associated with IPA victimisation for men (e.g. Bates & Liu, 2020a; Machado et al. 2017; Migliaccio, 2002; Morgan & Wells, 2016; Perryman & Appleton, 2016), being separated and alienated from their children merely adds to an already traumatic experience.

Men have also expressed concerns about the direct and indirect impacts that femaleto-male IPA has on their children – particularly when children witnessed the aggression
(Dixon et al. 2020). In a systematic review of research about the consequences of IPA for
children, Wood and Sommers (2011) found that witnessing violence between parents
increased a child's likelihood of experiencing a range of short-term and long-term
problematic outcomes. Children who had witnessed IPA were more likely to resolve conflicts
with violence compared to children who had not witnessed IPA, and also tended to have
lower educational performance than children who had not witnessed IPA (especially for
children under 12 years old). Furthermore, children exposed to IPA were more likely to be
subjected to childhood maltreatment (Wood & Sommers, 2011). In the long-term, children
who had witnessed IPA were at increased risk of developing alcohol-related problems in
adulthood, had a higher likelihood of drug use and abuse, and were more prone to risky
sexual behaviours (Wood & Sommers, 2011). Another meta-analysis found that witnessing

IPA was prospectively linked with children developing internalising, externalising, and adjustment problems – and that the likelihood of developing adjustment problems increased the longer that children were exposed to IPA (Vu et al. 2016). A study in Australia evaluated both longitudinal and qualitative data of domestic violence and its relationship with family parenting (Kaspiew et al. 2017). Inter-parental conflict, defined as verbal or physical conflict between adults that were biological, adoptive, or step-parents to a child, had a host of negative effects for children. In particular, persistent inter-parental conflict resulted in impaired socio-emotional, language and academic outcomes across all ages. Poor physical health, particularly among pre-teens, was also associated with witnessing persistent interparental conflict (Kaspiew et al. 2017).

In NZ, exposure to inter-parental violence is not uncommon. In 2010, children were reportedly present in approximately 50% of family violence callouts (New Zealand Police, 2010, cited by Murphy et al. 2013). In a retrospective study, 26-year-old NZ participants were asked about witnessing physical violence and threats of harm between their parents up to the age of 18 (Martin, Langley & Millichamp, 2006). 24% of the sample reported seeing or hearing actual or threatened physical violence between their parents. Within these violent families, 16% reported that the violence was only perpetrated by their mother (as opposed to 55% father-only and 28% by both parents), and 80% witnessed violence before the age of 11 (Martin et al. 2006). Participants that had witnessed aggression were also more likely than non-witnesses to be diagnosed with anxiety and depression at age 21 (Martin et al. 2006). Given the numerous and significant consequences associated with childhood exposure to IPA, the amount of NZ children witnessing aggression between their parents is concerning. However, there is a dearth of qualitative research that explores NZ fathers' and their children's experiences of IPA.

The Present Study

To date, the vast majority of IPA literature has investigated female victims in opposite-sex relationships (Laskey et al. 2019). Despite mounting evidence of gender symmetry in IPA (Archer, 2000; Smith et al. 2018; Stockdale et al. 2013) and men's experiences of severe violence and coercive control from female partners comparatively fewer studies have investigated men's experiences of IPA victimisation. Existing research, while limited, highlights the wide range of aggressive behaviours in female-to-male IPA, as well as the associated harms for men and their children. Qualitative studies have shed a light on the nature of the abuse, the rationalisations and coping strategies that facilitate acceptance of abuse, and the various obstacles that discourage men from leaving their abusive female partners. However, few qualitative studies have investigated how men experience the onset, progression, and turning points of abuse with female intimate partners. As external parties and education can influence people's decisions about leaving abusive relationships (Murray et al. 2015), understanding the process of IPA for men can inform future research, policies and practices that assist men in reducing the aggression they are experiencing.

Concerns about the well-being and separation from their children are particularly compelling factors that influence men's decisions to stay or leave abusive relationships.

Fatherhood is a valued identity among men who have experienced female-perpetrated IPA (Corbally, 2014), yet the majority of studies in the IPA literature focus on fatherhood experiences for male perpetrators of abuse (e.g. Carlson & Casey, 2018; Stephens, 2020), as opposed to male survivors. Furthermore, the negative consequences of parental alienation for fathers and their children are well-documented (Bentley & Matthewson, 2020; Poustie et al. 2018; Sher, 2015). Exploring how fatherhood affects experiences of female-perpetrated abuse is important for developing evidence-based interventions that mitigate potential harm to fathers and their children.

As research into female victims currently predominates the IPA literature, there is a need to include the voices of hard-to-reach populations to further the development of future research, practice, and policy in this area (Laskey et al. 2019). The number of qualitative studies into men's experiences of abuse from a female intimate partner have been increasing, though few have explored the onset, progression and turning points of IPA during and after an abusive relationship (e.g. Bates, 2019). Furthermore, there is a dearth of research into how fatherhood impacts men's experiences of abuse from female intimate partners. Thus, relevant practice and policy implications have yet to be identified. This study aims to address this gap by investigating how men with children experience the process of abuse from a female partner.

Method

Qualitative Analysis

The present study employed a qualitative approach to analysing one-on-one interviews with men who had experienced IPA from a female partner. Qualitative research is a useful approach for exploring questions about a person's lived experience of a given phenomenon, whereby knowledge is generated from individuals' unique experiences and perspectives (Gelo, Braakmann, & Benetka, 2008; Machado et al. 2017; Sandelowski, 2004). Alternatively, quantitative research collects large quantities of data and generalises findings to a wider population (Gelo, Braakmann, & Benetka, 2008; Banister, 2017). Research in the field of forensic psychology predominantly consists of quantitative approaches that are designed to produce pragmatic outcomes, such as rehabilitation and risk reduction (Banister, 2017). However, further qualitative studies are needed to explore broader questions around the lived experiences of participants, and potentially reveal new insights that otherwise could have been overlooked in quantitative approaches (Banister, 2017; Nowell et al. 2017). As there is a limited amount of research on male IPA victimisation (Laskey et al. 2019), a qualitative approach was selected to explore and develop an understanding of men's lived experiences and perspectives of IPA.

Reflexive thematic analysis is a qualitative approach that identifies, analyses and interprets patterns of meaning (themes) across a dataset (Braun & Clarke, 2006). This approach is often praised for its flexibility, as well as its ability to produce rich and detailed findings that capture the complexities of individuals' lived experiences (Braun & Clarke, 2006; Nowell et al. 2017). However, studies that utilise reflexive thematic analysis can be criticised for not providing enough detail about how each stage of the analysis was conducted (Trainor & Bundon, 2020). A lack of transparency compromises the credibility and

trustworthiness of findings studies that have utilised reflexive thematic analysis (Nowell et al. 2017). As such, the present study aims to provide a detailed account about the decisions that were made at each stage of the analysis, as well as acknowledge any subjective biases that may have influenced results.

Acknowledging the Role of Qualitative Researchers

Reflexive thematic analysis is a recursive process that requires a researcher's active, reflective, and thoughtful engagement with the data during all stages of analysis (Braun & Clarke, 2019). Findings are produced through an ongoing interaction between the contents of the data and a researcher's existing knowledge, assumptions, perspectives, values, and past experiences (Terry et al. 2017; Braun & Clarke, 2013). Thus, acknowledging a researcher's potential biases is an integral component to increasing the credibility and quality of findings in qualitative research (Dodgson, 2019; Trainor & Bundon, 2020). Although I was not involved in conducting any of the interviews analysed in this thesis - as data had been previously collected as part of a broader research project - my personal biases and subjective experiences of IPA could influence my interpretation of the data during the analysis. Thus, acknowledging my background, past experiences and knowledge about IPA is important to enhance the credibility and integrity of findings in the present study.

As a 24-year-old Pākehā female that was born and raised in Aotearoa New Zealand, I have always been aware of the existence and prevalence of IPA in my country. Having grown up with divorced parents, my upbringing was predominantly free of aggression within my primary home and observed in my secondary home for a short period of time. Subsequently, I had some understanding of the potentially bidirectional nature of IPA, but the phenomenon was not an issue that was at the forefront of my mind. Furthermore, due to the brief nature of my exposure to IPA, my understandings were largely informed by media, awareness

campaigns, and depictions of abuse in TV shows/movies. These produced assumptions about IPA predominantly involving a controlling, malicious male partner that enacted severe physical violence and established all-encompassing control over a female partner. It was not until I reached a post-graduate level of tertiary education that the complex and multi-faceted nature of IPA became apparent to me. This included learning about types of aggression beyond severe physical violence and that IPA could be experienced by any gender, age, or sexual orientation. Additionally, completing a previous qualitative research project about male university student's experiences of IPA from a female partner further informed my personal beliefs and understandings about what IPA looked like. This education created awareness about my own past experiences of IPA and facilitated disclosures about IPA from people in my personal life. Thus, throughout this analysis, I have been mindful not to overemphasize or overlook certain aspects of participants' experiences based on their congruency (or incongruency) with my personal understandings and assumptions about what IPA looks like. This mindfulness has helped me to take active steps in minimising biases and take an inclusive approach to analysing men's experiences of the process of IPA.

Study Design

The study used a phenomenologically-oriented design to explore the experiences of men with children who lived with unidirectional abuse from a female intimate partner. Phenomenological approaches are utilised to explore phenomena from the perspectives of individuals who have personally experienced said phenomenon (Creswell & Poth, 2016; Neubauer, Witkop, & Varpio, 2019), and thus, in this study, was adopted to focus on men's lived experiences and personal perceptions of their abusive relationships. A semi-structured interview schedule and open-ended questions were used to encourage men to discuss their personal experiences of IPA in their own words. These open-ended questions focused on topics such as what the abuse typically looked like, descriptions of the worst or most

memorable abusive incident, how the presence of children impacted the aggression, how men understood their experiences of aggression, and any help-seeking behaviours they engaged in. The full interview schedule can be viewed in Appendix A.

Participants

Participants were selected from an existing data pool of 80 interviews, which had been collected prior to the present study. The sample consisted of 13 men who self-reported experiencing abuse from a female intimate partner, with whom they had at least one biological child. At least one child that they shared with this female intimate partner was living with the men during the abusive relationship.

Of these 13 men, eleven participants were recruited from non-government organisations (NGOs) that work with survivors of IPA, located across five areas in New Zealand (Otago, Canterbury, Tasman/Nelson, Wellington, and Waikato). One of the participants had self-referred himself to the study via email, and another participant was recruited through a university's student counselling service. Participation in the project was voluntary. Participants' ages ranged from being in their twenties to their sixties, and all spoke English as a first language. All except one man had ended their relationship with their abusive partner at the time of the interview. Additional participant details are provided in Table 1, names have been exchanged for pseudonyms to ensure confidentiality.

Table 1

Demographics and relationship characteristics of participants

Pseudonym	Age	Relationship	Ethnicity	# of	# of children
	range	length		biological	in household
				children	
William	40 – 49	Ongoing; 22	NZ European	1	1
		years			
David	40 – 49	14 years	Indian	2	2
Theo	50 – 59	2 years	European	1	1
Patrick	50 – 59	4 years	Māori/European	2	2
Dean	40 – 49	2 years	European	1	1
Chris	30 – 39	7 years	European	2	4
Liam	40 – 49	21 years	NZ European	3	3
Julian	20 – 29	3 years	NZ European	1	1
Alex	40 – 49	13 years	NZ European	2	2
Reuben	30 – 39	15 years	Maori European	2	2
Leo	50 – 59	10 years	British Overseas	2	2
			Territory		
Phillip	40 – 49	14 years	NZ European	2	6
Erik	60 – 69	33 years	NZ European	4	4

Procedure

The current study was part of a broader research project investigating experiences of IPA in New Zealand. The principal investigator had interviewed 80 male and female survivors and/or perpetrators of IPA. The current study explored the interviews that were conducted with men with children who had experienced unidirectional abuse from a female intimate partner. The process of data collection is described below.

A university student counselling service and NGOs that work with survivors or perpetrators of IPA were provided with an information and consent sheet that explained the purpose and requirements of the broader research project. NGOs who consented to being involved in the project were provided with a brief information sheet to distribute to clients that were assessed as suitable candidates for the research project (i.e. any person who was interested in discussing their experiences from and/or to an intimate partner, and was in a physically and psychologically safe space to do so). Any person that expressed interest in contributing to the research project was then provided with a full information and consent sheet. The university student counselling service emailed their male client base with the brief information and consent sheet, and an invitation to complete an online screening questionnaire that provided full details of the study. Those men who indicated they were not at risk of being harmed by an abusive partner or suffer undue psychological distress by taking part were invited to an interview.

All participants were interviewed in a private room at the organisation from which they were recruited through. All participants were given the choice of a female or male interviewer. The NGO's or the university's counselling service was immediately available in the event that men felt distressed during the interview, which none of the men utilised.

Interviews lasted an average of 90 minutes and were audio recorded with permission from the participant. All men were informed that they could end the interview at any point without any negative repercussions. Interviews were semi-structured and utilised an interview schedule that consisted of broad and open-ended questions to guide discussion. At the end of the interview, all participants received a debrief sheet that provided further details about the purpose of the study, what would happen with their interview, and contact details of support services. Participants were also given a supermarket voucher as a koha for their participation. The audio recordings of the interviews were transcribed verbatim by a professional and confidential service.

A total of 80 interviews were conducted. Of these 80 interviews, twenty-five men had experienced unidirectional abuse from a female intimate partner. Two interviews were excluded from the current study, as they described abuse from multiple partners and lacked rich information about the men's experiences with each partner. One interview was excluded for confidentiality reasons, as their identity was potentially known to the author. A total of twenty-two eligible interviews remained.

Detailed case notes were made about the twenty-two interviews, which are described in detail in the following section. These case notes were used to refine the current study's research question to include men with children. Participants were selected based on their relevance to the refined research question, the richness of the information provided in the interview, and maintaining homogeneity of the dataset.

This reduced the number of applicable interviews from twenty-two to fourteen men, who each had between one to four children with a female intimate partner. Of these fourteen men, one was excluded from analysis, as he had experienced IPA from two partners and his

interview lacked rich information about the partner he had a child with. Thus, a total of thirteen participants were included in the analysis.

During the refinement process, five sub-questions were developed to help guide the thematic analysis. They were:

- 1. How do men with children experience the relationship prior to the abuse and what events or factors precede the first aggressive incident?
- 2. How do men with children describe the progression of abuse over time?
- 3. What factors keep men with children in their abusive relationship or encourage them to leave?
- 4. How did men with children make sense of or rationalise the abuse and how do they experience the impact of abuse over time?
- 5. How do men with children put boundaries in place to limit the abuse and how do they experience the relationship afterwards?

Data Analysis

Braun and Clarke's (2006) documented approach to reflexive thematic analysis was used to identify recurring patterns across the 13 interviews. Three decisions guided the interpretation of the dataset:

- 1. An *inductive approach* meant that the development of the themes was driven by the data and focussed on men's personal accounts of IPA. This approach was used so that findings represented men's experiences as they were told by the men, rather than viewing those experiences through the lens of a predetermined theory.
- 2. Themes were identified at a *semantic level*, whereby themes were developed based on what men had explicitly said during the interviews. This was opposed to identifying

- themes at a latent level, where themes are developed by looking for underlying concepts and assumptions within the data.
- 3. A *realist/essentialist paradigm* was adopted to support the exploration of the men's personal experiences and perceptions of IPA, by assuming that the information provided in the interviews reflected men's perceptions of reality in a straightforward manner.

Nowell and colleagues (2017) also published suggestions on how to conduct a robust thematic analysis, which were implemented at each of the six stages and are noted below:

1. Familiarisation with the data. A period of prolonged engagement with the contents of the data was undertaken, which occurred in three phases. The first phase involved a research team of five post-graduate students being assigned 4-5 cases from a pool of 24 interviews. Each researcher listened to the corresponding audio recordings of these assigned cases, and summarised key information about the nature of the abuse for each interviewee. Assigned cases were not necessarily relevant to the present study's research questions (e.g. interviews with female survivors of IPA and men who experienced reciprocal IPA). This exposure to different types of IPA experiences increased researchers' awareness of the heterogenous nature of IPA. Summaries of these 24 interviews were compiled into a shared Excel spreadsheet, which contained demographic information and interview summaries for all 80 interviews in the broader research project.

The second phase of familiarisation involved ongoing engagement with the twenty-three cases that were relevant to the current study's initial research question. Audio recordings of each of the twenty-three interviews were listened to, with subsequent case notes being compiled into an Excel spreadsheet. These detailed case notes focused on the nature of the unilateral aggression, the nature of men's victimisation, rich data on men's experience of

using aggression, rich data on men's victimisation experience, rich data on men's experiences of disclosure, and rich data on men's help-seeking experiences. Transcripts of the twenty-three interviews were then read to supplement any additional information that was overlooked while listening to the audio recordings. Based on these case notes, the present study's sample of 23 men was further refined to maintain heterogeneity of the sample. As previously described in the procedure, thirteen men with children were subsequently selected for analysis.

The third phase focused on the thirteen cases that were selected for analysis. Each of the transcripts were checked against the original audio recordings for accuracy, with any edits being saved into a separate folder from the original transcripts. Checked transcripts were then re-read to create individual summaries about each participant's experiences of IPA, which were used to generate sub-questions that would guide the next stage of the analysis. The main research question and initial sub-questions were refined through discussions with the principal investigator and members of the research team. The thirteen transcripts were subsequently read again with the refined sub-questions in mind, to ensure that participants' experiences covered information that would be relevant to each of these sub-questions. As suggested by Nowell and colleagues (2017), an audit trail was used throughout this process, with any changes to case notes, sub-questions and transcripts being recorded and stored as separate documents.

2. Generation of initial codes. Each of the thirteen checked interview transcripts were copied into separate Word documents for coding. These documents contained a table with two columns: the right column consisting of the full interview transcript, and the left column providing space to note down any thoughts, comments, or ideas about why a specific section of the transcript had been assigned a particular code. Guided by the sub-questions developed in the previous phase, common ideas that appeared across the dataset were identified as initial

codes. The "comment" function on Word was used to highlight sections of the transcript and assign an initial code. An example of this table with corresponding comments and data extracts can be found in Appendix B, with assigned codes being highlighted in bold above the associated comment. A reflexive journal was also maintained in a separate Word document. The journal contained reflexive thoughts that acknowledged any biases or assumptions that were influencing interpretations of the data (and how these biases were counteracted), as well as justifications about decisions that were made throughout the analysis. All thirteen transcripts were systematically coded from start to finish. A copy of the main research question and accompanying sub-questions was always kept in sight, to limit deviation from the main focus of the research project.

During the initial coding process, peer debriefing occurred with a qualitative research team that included two investigators of the broader research project and four post-graduate students working with the same data. Approximately ten-page samples of de-identified interviews were exchanged and separately coded, then discussed as a group and stored on a shared server. These debriefings were used to compare and corroborate findings and facilitate reflection about the different perspectives that individuals would bring when coding the same interview.

After coding each interview, all thirteen interviews were re-coded. This was done for two reasons: 1) to maintain consistency of codes across the dataset, as interviews that were analysed later in the coding process may have new or altered codes that were not included in earlier interviews; and 2) the initial coding process had facilitated a more nuanced and deeper understanding of all thirteen men's experiences, and thus re-examining all interviews was necessary in case of any new insights. All transcripts were re-coded in the same order as the initial coding procedure. An audit trail of code generation was also utilised. A separate document was created each time an interview was re-coded.

Codes and their related data extracts from all thirteen interviews were then integrated into a single document. This new document contained a table with three columns. The first column contained the name of the code, the second contained the data extracts that were captured by that code, and the third column contained any associated comments that explained why certain data extracts were associated with certain codes. An example of this table can be viewed in Appendix C. During the process of transferring initial codes into a table of compiled codes, the contents of the data extracts and associated comments were evaluated to determine whether they were capturing similar or distinct ideas across the interviews. Data extracts that captured distinct ideas, but had been coded similarly, were subsequently re-coded into existing or new codes. Similarly, separate codes that were capturing similar ideas had their data extracts integrated and the codes were re-named.

- 3. Searching for themes. After compiling and revising codes across all thirteen interviews, another Word document was created. This document contained a three-columned table that provided the code name, a description of the code, and one or two corresponding data extracts that illustrated that code. An example of this table can be found in Appendix D. Ongoing consultation with another member of the research team assisted with refining these codes. This document was then given to the principal investigator who provided feedback and advice on further code refinement. Based on this feedback, codes were integrated or separated based on the similarity or distinctness of ideas that were captured, with code names and descriptions being updated as necessary. As suggested by Nowell and colleagues (2017), each revision was saved as a separate document to continue developing an audit trail, and detailed notes were made to explain the development and integration (or separation) of different codes in a reflexive journal.
- 4. Reviewing themes. To facilitate the integration of refined codes into preliminary themes, the document containing the revised table of codes was printed out, cut up, and then

grouped based on the code description and corresponding data extracts. Each code was evaluated one at a time and compared to codes that were already on the table. Codes that appeared to be capturing similar and interrelated ideas were grouped together or placed nearby if the codes were similar but not directly linked to one another. Dissimilar codes were placed away from the other codes. Throughout this process, codes were constantly shifted and re-categorised to ensure that grouped codes accurately and coherently reflected the men's experiences of unilateral aggression. This process was later repeated with the principal investigator to incorporate an alternative perspective on the layout and groupings of these preliminary themes. By the end, four themes and thirteen subthemes had been identified.

Following this process, preliminary themes were compared against the original transcripts and coded extracts to ensure that themes were meaningful and reflective of the accounts within the dataset. Transcripts of all thirteen interviews were re-read and any necessary changes to the descriptions or placement of preliminary themes were made.

5. Defining and naming themes. Once confident that the preliminary themes were reflective of the men's accounts of IPA, a new Word document was created that outlined the themes, their corresponding subthemes, and the refined codes that were captured by each subtheme. A narrative explanation for each theme and relevant subthemes was developed, which illustrated how codes were interconnected and coherently described men's experiences of the process of IPA. Themes and subthemes were then given meaningful labels that clearly and effectively communicated their contents and overall message. This process prompted further reflection and some minor adjustments of code placement within and across subthemes. As with previous stages, any revisions were recorded and separately documented (Nowell et al. 2017).

A series of quotations that succinctly and clearly illustrated each code were added to enhance the thematic narrative. These quotations were selected from existing documents that contained revised codes and their corresponding data extracts, as well as during another reading of all 13 interview transcripts. This was done to ensure that themes and subthemes were an accurate and meaningful reflection of interviewees' experiences.

6. Producing a report. The final phase involved the production of a written report that identified and described each theme and associated subthemes. To support the themes and subthemes that were generated throughout the process of this analysis, suitable quotes from the previous stage were selected that illustrated and effectively communicated findings about men's experiences of the process of unidirectional abuse from a female intimate partner.

Ongoing consultation with the principal investigator prompted minor adjustments to code placement, selected quotations, and the names of subthemes. In addition, the report aimed to provide sufficient detail about each stage of the analysis and justify the theoretical, methodological and analytical choices that were made throughout the present study (Nowell et al. 2017).

Results

Four overarching themes were identified in the interviews using thematic analysis. The themes consisted of 1) The emotional pull, 2) Stuck, 3) Negative impacts of abuse, and 4) Breaking free. Each theme and the corresponding subthemes have been summarised in Table 2 and are described in-depth in the sections below. While supporting quotes are an accurate and direct reflection of what participants said during the interview, they have been edited to remove partial utterances of words and filler words (such as "um" and "er") for clarity.

Table 2
Summary of themes and subthemes

Theme	Subthemes	Supporting Quotes
The	Honeymoon	"It was really nice, and I was really supporting her with her
Emotional	Period	nursing at the time. So, she was focusing on that, and yeah.
Pull		Yeah, it was, she was lovely. And I genuinely,
		genuinely fell in love with her at that time."
		- Chris
	Invested in the	"I was fully committed to the relationship, you know, I
	Relationship	guess eh, I really was, you know. And especially after we
		had a child, you know, I tried to keep it together."
		- Leo
Stuck	Changing	"It's a little bit like the story of the frog in the in the in
	Nature and	the water that slowly boils. I didn't really realise what was
	Severity of	going on. It happened so slowly and it built up momentum
	Abuse	very very, very slowly."
		- Erik

	Excuses	"It's a loss of yeah, I don't know what her frustration or what it was. I think it was a combination between frustration, study, insecurities, lots of things." - Liam
	Problem- Solving	"That's how I am, it's just I fix things and, yeah, unfortunately I couldn't fix this, and it was just, it's getting beyond my sort of ability to be able to sort of talk my way out of it and show her what I what she meant to me." - Reuben
	Cycle of Appeasement	"It just gave her a lot more control I think. [] I didn't do anything about it and I just more and more just gave in to whatever she wanted, you know, just to keep the peace." - Phillip
	Gendered Responding to Aggression	"Because I'm a man, and I've always been told not to hit a woman, I don't hit women. So, I don't retaliate in a physical form. Maybe I do it in a, like, "Stop it!" or, "Fuck off!" Like, just let her, just that's not cool. 'Cause I can't I won't physically touch her, like, hit her." - Reuben
Negative Impacts of Abuse	Negative Impacts on Men	"Well, I had a slipped disc in my neck and I hadn't slept for three weeks. I'd been off work and I thought, like this is just impossible. This is this nut is never gonna be cracked. My life is crap. I can't get any help. It's all my fault. My health is shot and so I decided to kill myself and I started making a plan on how to kill myself 'cause it was just too it was too horrible." - Erik
	Spillover Effects on Children	"It was just really upsetting to me, because I could, you know, I'd look at the kids and go and they were, because

		they were so little at that stage, it it just was really hurtful to me. You know, I could see how it was affecting them and
		just thinking, 'Oh, you know, this is, just isn't gonna work."" - Alex
Breaking	Drawing a Line	"I was essentially forced out of the house, because it
Free		probably that kind of situation, that tension, that abuse,
		violence would probably it would have taken its toll. I mean,
		it did take its toll anyway on me, yeah. So, it for my own
		sake and for my daughter's sake, I had to leave."
		- Dean
	Post-Separation	"It was continuing. And then it just started to be sort of in
	Abuse	my mind, I was like, 'Well, no, actually, you're trying to
		control the, you know, me, through the kids, and trying to'
		and that's what it felt like. So, in the end, when she went for
		supervised contact, I was like, 'How dare you?' Like, that's
		just, that's bullshit."
		- Reuben
	Loves	"I was still so tied up emotionally, you know. Physically
	Continuing Pull	you're separated of course, but emotionally that separation
		often takes a long time."
		- Patrick
	Putting the	"I was, oh, just thoroughly confused and, you know, my
	Pieces Together	mum said, "Don't try to understand it, you'll never be able
		to figure it out." And in a way I think that's true, but I did
		research about, you know, the psychological emotional
		abuse thing, and, you know, kind of being terrorised
		psychologically a bit, is what was really going on."
		- Alex

1. The Emotional Pull

This theme describes the establishment and persistence of the emotional pull that men felt towards their partner during the relationship. The men described how the earlier stages were enjoyable and positive, which helped them to develop a strong bond with their partner. Although some red flags were evident they were easily overlooked due to these positive aspects. By the time aggression became noticeable, men were already invested in the relationship due to emotional attachments to their partner and their children. Two subthemes were identified that captured these patterns, namely *honeymoon period* and *invested in the relationship*.

1.1 Honeymoon Period

Abusive relationships often began positively, with men reporting that they connected with their partner through shared hobbies and activities, having similar values and beliefs, and meaningful events such as the birth of their children. Few (if any) noticeable signs of aggression occurred during these early stages.

"But, you know, generally, in term-- well, compared to the rest of it, you know, it was much better, the earlier part. There wasn't any of this sort of aggression and carry-on. [...] It was much better at the... wasn't so deadly serious." - Alex

Upon reflection, however, men recognised that these positive beginnings also contained "red flags" about the aggression that was to come. Some of the men were warned about her family's reputation for violence, whereas others noticed unusual behaviours that they dismissed or overlooked.

"I guess, mm, I did sort of see a vulnerability quite early on and didn't sort of like, you know, put too much emphasis on that. And then there was little incidents I guess maybe where I thought that's rather strange behaviour, but never really thinking that things could get as bad as they could." - Dean

Once men had made a significant commitment to their abusive partner, men reported that their partner's aggression began to escalate, and subsequently became more apparent to the men. These commitments came in various forms, such as marriage, pregnancy, moving in together, or buying a house together.

"When we bought a house together, a bigger house for the kids, is... and, and we financially tied ourselves together, is where it... it... it genuinely heated up to a whole new level." - Dean

1.2 Invested in the Relationship

By the time men took note of their partner's aggression, they were already significantly invested in the relationship. Romantic attachment and love for their partner reportedly encouraged men to stay in the face of emerging and escalating aggression. Chris described how his feelings for his partner blinded him to the abuse:

"So in love with her, that she couldn't do any wrong. I just can't stress that enough. And I look back — she couldn't do any wrong in my eyes. And I keep trying to grab to that even now, just trying to grab to that time." - Chris

Men also felt that they should be committed to their partner and children. Men held their own beliefs about what successful relationships, families, and being a good/father husband should look like. Men wanted to make things work and stand by their female partners, especially when a child was involved.

"I was fully committed to the relationship, you know, I guess eh, I really was, you know. And especially after we had a child, you know, I tried to keep it together." - Leo

All of the men discussed their children being a particularly compelling reason to stay in their abusive relationships. Men believed that they were doing what was best for their children by staying with their partners, wanted to be around to protect their children from their partner's abuse, or they were afraid of their partner separating them from their children if they did choose to leave.

"I think at the same time we had a little child, a little girl, there's no way I was gonna leave her side, and especially leave her with... without anyone in the house to kind of be a buffer for some of that stuff, so." - Patrick

"The whole thing of, you know, keep trying to make it work or stay together for the kids, because for... you know, almost the whole time that we had the kids it was pretty crappy and, just thinking, 'Well, why am I in this?' And then it's like, 'Well you've gotta do it for the kids.'" - Alex

2. Stuck

This theme identified a range of sub-themes that kept men in the relationship and served to maintain and prolong the abuse. Five subthemes are presented and described: 1) the changing nature and severity of the abuse, 2) the excuses men used to justify their partner's aggression, 3) the problem-solving tactics men engaged in to "fix" the relationship, 4) the cycle of appearament, and 5) men's gendered responses to aggression.

2.1 The Changing Nature and Severity of Abuse

Men experienced various types of physical, psychological and sexual aggression from their female intimate partners. Men described physical aggression directed towards them or their property, which included being threatened with weapons and punched in the head.

During a particularly heated incident, Theo described how his partner sliced through a photo of him and his daughter using a knife:

"And then she threw a cup at me and that... the same thing, you know. And then she grabbed... she had this, block-mounted photo of me and baby together and then she got this big kitchen knife and she says, "This is what I think of you," and she just went [noise] like this on the photo..." - Theo

Direct and indirect psychological aggression commonly featured in men's accounts of abuse. Female intimate partners would engage in a variety of behaviours, including belittling, guilt-tripping, gaslighting, controlling his relationships and movements, threatening to harm

herself, sabotaging his personal and professional reputation, controlling his finances, and being physically and/or psychologically aggressive towards his friends and family. David recounted how his partner spreading lies about him caused his in-laws to become aggressive towards him and his family:

"But she would go and complain about me, that I was somebody else and I was the person abusing her. [...] They believed her and they would just go into a full verbal on me as well and then on my parents. Then they started approaching my brother-in-law and my sister and my other relatives in [Country]." - David

Some of the men also experienced sexual aggression in their relationships. Being coerced into sex and having their sexual activities controlled were two ways that men experienced sexual aggression from their female intimate partners.

"And, and the jealousy was odd, like, she's like, "You have to have sex with me every day. You are not allowed to masturbate. You are not allowed to do that. You have to... I don't care if you fuck me 10 times a day, or you've gotta... You've got to have sex with me." [...] that's something that came about quite quickly." - Chris

The various types of aggressive behaviours experienced by men did not emerge all at once, but gradually changed and escalated over the course of the relationship. Some of the men reported that the psychological aggression appeared before the physical aggression, whereas other men reported the opposite pattern. As the relationship progressed, however, all of the men reported that the abuse increased in frequency and level of severity.

"So, my situation was all about control basically. [...] It got physical later. [laughs] [...] Yeah, later on. But that's how it sort of, yeah, started." - Phillip

"But she would get more and more angry and she would start hitting me each time and it became worse and worse. [...] the slaps became harder and... [...] More frequent..." - David

The changing nature and gradual escalation of the abuse encouraged further tolerance of aggression over time. Men reported that they tolerated more severe forms of aggression as

the relationship progressed, eventually leading them to accept behaviours that they would have otherwise objected to.

"I think because you start to put up with shit literally, excuse my French, but you start to tolerate more and more and more and more. [...] I know I did, tolerate more and more even though her behaviour, she might have said something incredibly rude or been disrespectful, I just go, oh, well that's just [Partner] doing what [Partner] does, you know. [...] you sort of go through the process of acceptance of something that is not acceptable." - Liam

Knowing when to object to their partner's escalating aggression was further complicated by men being unaware that what was happening to them could be described as "abuse." Their situations did not fit their definitions of IPA or their understandings of what abusive relationships typically looked like.

"I don't know, abuse... the word 'abuse' to me meant something else. Like, it just meant something a lot more than what I was actually receiving from her." - Reuben

"I had no idea about the phrase 'emotional abuse'. I'd heard of domestic abuse... [...] ...but I just thought it was raging arguments involving beer bottles and... [...] ...people really trying to kill each other." - Chris

2.2 Excuses

Most of the men recognised that their partner's behaviour was unacceptable or inappropriate almost as soon as the aggression appeared. However, men described that they struggled to look at the relationship from an objective standpoint due to their commitment to the relationship and the impact of the abuse. Subsequently, men continued with the relationship despite acknowledging that their partner's behaviours were "wrong." Alex explained that his judgement was clouded during the relationship and that, despite knowing that the way his partner acting was not okay, he would find ways to dismiss the aggression:

"I think in some ways it's easier to pretend that it's not happening as well, even if you have that gut feeling that it's not okay. Yeah. I think it's quite easy to, dismiss that gut feeling. You

know, your thinking head has got all this rationale going on. It sort of pushes down the gut feeling, which is quite strong, about things being okay or not, with this whole other agenda that's going on over the top, yeah." - Alex

A combination of different justifications and "excuses" emerged to explain away the aggression that men were experiencing from their female partners. These justifications rarely existed in isolation from one another; rather, a multitude of reasons would be conjointly used to explain the aggression. Internal factors such as their partner's mental health, their partner's childhood experiences or past trauma, hormonal changes, and/or the aggression simply being "who she was" were some of the reasons men used to dismiss the abuse.

"So, I'm trying to justify it, you know, it's like crazy. [laughs] Like, she's-- it's okay, she... you know, she's got mental health problems, she's got depression, she's got this. She's completely justified, you know. It's okay, we'll give her a free pass." - Theo

External influences were also believed to contribute to the aggression, including being overwhelmed by stress, their partner being manipulated by her family members, and/or men blaming themselves for the aggression.

"I don't think she realised she had a stress problem or problem managing her own stress and that was exacerbated by her own foolishness of listening to her mother and sister tell stories about me which just weren't true." - Liam

Another way that men rationalised the aggression was describing their partners as possessing two distinct personalities. Men reported that their partner would become a "different person" when they were aggressive.

"She would go into like a mental rage. Um, suddenly... [...] ...she would flick. [...] It was just like Dr Jekyll and Mr Hyde thing, you know, it'll just switch and I would: Is this the person I know or is this not the person I know?" - David

Despite their best efforts to rationalise the abuse, trying to make sense of their partner's behaviours left men feeling as if they were living in a crazy and confusing world.

"So, she'd say something that was totally nonsensical and, I guess, you know, the big lesson I learned of that of course, I feel crazy because I'm trying to make sense out of nonsense, you know, and I get pulled into the drama of trying to, make sense out of something like that." - Patrick

2.3 Problem-Solving

In addition to making excuses and justifying their partner's behaviours, the aggression and abuse was maintained by men looking for ways to "fix" the relationship. Many of the men adopted an action-oriented attitude to the aggression, expressing their determination to solve any problems that arose and wanting to make the relationship work.

"I don't really tend to speculate on her reasons for doing anything eh, you know, just try and resolve the situation." - Leo

Whilst trying to resolve issues in their relationships, men reported using a range of coping strategies to withstand the aggression in the meantime. Some of the men reported blocking out the aggression, repressing memories of the abuse, distracting themselves with their careers, and/or turning to alcohol use as a means of coping.

"Yeah, no, I just blocked it out. Even [53.06] if my mum asked if everything was all right or anything, she didn't know, I didn't tell her anything. Just blocked it out." - Phillip

One tactic used by men to resolve the abuse was confronting their partners. Men reported attempting to talk to their female partners about potential issues that were causing the aggression and/or told their partners that the aggression was not acceptable. However, this strategy was largely unsuccessful at "solving" the abuse. Men described how their partners refused to communicate about the aggression, would not be accountable for their own abusive behaviours, or the conversations did not produce any lasting change.

"I've told her so many times now, "You've got to stop, you know, you gotta deal with this," and she wouldn't. "It's everybody else's problem and not my problem," and it's... and I'm like, "Well actually it is your problem and you need to deal with it."" - Liam

Some of the men subsequently turned to their partner's family for advice. However, their partner's family members were generally dismissive and unsupportive of the men's situations.

"So, because she wouldn't communicate it with me, I went to her family for support. [...] So, I keep going to her dad, her mum, or her brothers, and like, "Guys, I need some help here." You know, "Have you seen this before?" And they were exactly the same. They were like... they were like, "No, [Chris], it's all good. You know, we're all whanau here, we'll just keep it in the house." Quote. I always got the same comment: it's in-house." - Chris

Reaching out to counselling services was another problem-solving method utilised by the men. However, some of the men found that their partners were resistant to the idea of counselling and refused to participate. Others reported that, when their partner did attend, she would accuse the men of being abusive and/or would not allow her aggression to be discussed during the sessions.

"We were accessing some couples support, but whenever I would try to broach the subject of [Partner]'s screaming and zero to rage stuff, she would call an end to the... to the couples work. So, and she would say that I had... I had failed to focus on the point that it takes two to tango and, so she would only want to approach this... approach these issues if we didn't talk directly about her contribution to the stuff." - Patrick

Across the interviews, a commonly discussed reason for staying in the relationship was that the men were hopeful that their partner would, eventually, change. The men believed that the relationship was capable of being fixed and their partner's aggression would cease. The men believed that the aggression could potentially resolve itself over time, that a change in circumstances would stop their partner's aggression, or that their partner seeking help for issues they believed contributed to the aggression (such as mental health) would bring an end to the abuse.

"If something happened it would be just be kind of like trying to brush it off and then go onto, you know, the next day and, yeah, and just you kind of like hoping perhaps that things

wouldn't, you know, be the same and perhaps having, [sighs] you know, perhaps thinking that... well that's basically horrible thing that's happened, it won't happen again, you know. But it did." - Dean

2.4 Cycle of Appeasement

In order to prevent aggressive incidents from occurring, men often resorted to appearing their abusive female partners, which had limited success. For most of the men, aggressive incidents were preceded by a state of rising tension, where they could see their partners "building up" to something. As part of this build-up, men reported that their partners became notably irritable and short-tempered, and appeared to be looking for excuses to become angry with the men.

"I think she was... like every time we've had an incident she's always like just picking at something, trying to get a reaction from... and the less I react the more she sort of picks and... it's almost like she wants to... she wants to blow, you know." - Theo

However, one of the men reported that there was no build-up or period of heightened tension before aggression occurred. He described his abusive female partner as unexpectedly "lashing out":

"You must hear me with this - there was never a build-up. [...] There was never, ever egg-shelling. It was like, happy families, we were jogging together, blah, blah, blah, bang." - Chris

Regardless, all of the men became attuned to warning signs that aggression was imminent, though some of them found these exact indicators difficult to articulate. Phillip described how his partner's general demeanour and attitude towards him would change:

"Just her whole appearance and the way she was towards you, yeah, was very didn't give a shit about you basically. She put a block up and just was doing her own sort of thing where you have to read her mind and follow her actions. [...] Just... I don't know how to explain it."
- Phillip

As a result, most of the men reported going through periods of "walking on eggshells." They felt anxious and on-edge about doing the right thing, and would monitor their behaviours to avoid upsetting their female intimate partners.

"I'll be so anxious about... [...] ...doing the right thing. Paranoid... [...] ...paranoid about doing the right thing. Jeepers, shit, have I... have I put the milk back in the fridge? Oh fuck! And I'll jump up, put some back in the fridge 'cause I left the milk out. Thank God she's not gonna tell me off for that, you know, and try to look busy." - William

Some of the men also reported being afraid of their partner's physical and/or psychological aggression. Some, such as Theo, described their fears about their partner's aggression escalating further and wondering "what's next?" Others, like Phillip, were afraid of the consequences they would face if they "slipped up."

"I mean, my biggest worry was that one day she would, you know, probably stab me.

That's... that was my biggest fear. And I guess the last incident we had, I mean, that was definitely a real, you know, real issue." - Theo

"Pretty much all the time, yeah. Not always afraid of your life... for your life or anything like that but just always afraid of what you're gonna... you know, what's gonna be the outcome of something you're gonna say." - Phillip

Due to these feelings of anxiety and fear, men modified their behaviours in an attempt to appease their partner and prevent further aggression. However, while appeasing female partners was an effective short-term strategy for preventing the next abusive incident, in the long-term men were only delaying the inevitable. No matter how hard men tried to keep their partners happy, their partners would find a reason to become aggressive. This appeared to motivate men to try harder again, eventually trapping them in a cycle.

"I might leave a jam jar one out, the first time for weeks and weeks and weeks, months and months and months, ages. "You've left that out [43.58] again!" despite the fact for so many years I've worked incredibly hard to always put things back." - William

Overall, men reported feeling helpless about preventing their partner's aggression from occurring.

"I just often found myself just at my wits end, just want... so, really off balance I think, and it became... I just didn't know what I could do or could not do to avoid all the meltdowns." - Patrick

2.5 Gendered Responding to Aggression

Over the course of the relationship, men gradually learned the "safest" and most appropriate ways to respond to their partners during an aggressive incident. Men reported that they initially experienced feelings of shock and disbelief when their partners were aggressive towards them and were unsure what the best response would be.

"I probably went into freeze mode. It's like, my goodness, what's... I didn't have the tools to deal with that at the time." - William

A common strategy used by the men to de-escalate aggression was to remove themselves from the situation. This included walking away from their partners, locking themselves in another room, or making themselves difficult to contact (such as leaving their phone in their car). While withdrawing was an effective strategy for some men, others found that their partner would prevent the men from distancing themselves and/or the aggression would escalate.

"I just felt that, you know... that here was pressure cooker situation and that we kind of... the one thing that could have done, because I couldn't calm her down, the one thing that I could have done to ease that would be just to basically get out the house and I wasn't even able to do that." - Dean

Men were reluctant to use physical retaliation. Their reasons included being afraid of the harm that they would inflict due to their strength and size and believing that violence against women was taboo. "There's like a moral code, you just don't... and it's like what my dad drilled into me, you know, no matter what, you don't hit a woman, you know; you don't hit your dog, you don't... there's moral codes. [...] And I just felt like these invisible handcuffs - what do I do? Like, do I just ride it out until she finishes?" - Chris

Though men were unwilling to strike their partners, some of the men reported physically restraining them when their partner's physical aggression threatened themselves or their children.

"But there was another time where she was... she was so aggressive I had to basically grab her to... so that she didn't harm me or our child who was very young at that time and she struggled and she bit me." - Dean

Some of the men verbally retaliated when their partners became aggressive – often by shouting back at them or calling them "crazy." Only two men reported eventual physical retaliation, which only came about after experiencing prolonged abuse. Accounts of physical retaliation were often interwoven with men's feelings of shame about their actions, with some men describing their own physical retaliation as the "worst" part of the aggression they experienced.

"Where she gives an extreme elbow... [...] ...maybe four or five [laugh] ... [...] and this... that behaviour would happen quite a lot for me then to react. [...] What I mean is many, many months of it. [...] So, that's the worst..." - William

Most of the men reported not retaliating to their partners – either physically or verbally – because they believed that it was a pointless endeavour. For those that did retaliate, they echoed these sentiments, claiming that shouting back only escalated the aggression and did not resolve arguments.

Phillip: Or just, you know, retaliating was the worst thing to do. [...] So, you know, like if you said something or she put you down and said something. So it was easier to just not say anything. [...]

Interviewer: Did you learn over time not to retaliate?

Phillip: Yeah.

- Phillip

Ultimately, men had limited effective options when it came to de-escalating their partners, and these responses were often constrained by gender norms about acceptable uses of violence. Dean described the many different tactics he used over time and how there was "very little" that he could do to resolve conflicts with his partner:

"It's a very difficult situation because you don't really wanna say anything at times but that would actually make it worse 'cause she wanted you to say something [36.30] [laughs], and I found that in any kind of sort of tense situation there was very little that could be done. Initially I probably, mistakenly, would become really defensive myself, and then [sighs] I went to the other extreme or the other-- the end of the circle I guess maybe, and, was... became very, very passive, which didn't work out either, and then I began to learn some assertiveness skills [...] and I felt that... I applied these assertiveness skills extremely well but in fact that actually would not be of any assistance at all because if... it was taken as me just being... just having a go at her." - Dean

"I can't see anything that I could do to stop her. I mean, she was just, yeah, I just... there was nothing I could do." - Theo

3. The Negative Impacts of Abuse

This theme identifies the myriad of negative impacts that the abuse had on the men and their children. The two subthemes describe the negative impacts that the aggression had on the men, and how the abuse had spillover effects onto the children who witnessed conflict.

3.1 The Negative Impacts on Men

Men experienced a wide range of harms from their female partner's aggression across multiple life domains. Some of the men reported immediate and long-term impacts on their physical health, such as being injured by their partner, starvation and associated weight loss, and/or having their physical health deteriorate over time due to the stress of the relationship.

Phillip shared his experience of being hospitalised for serious heart complications, which his partner had limited empathy for.

"I went into AF from all the stress and everything and, yeah, that was pretty bad and that just got worse too. She just didn't care. Yeah, pretty much just wanted me back home to carry on. [...] Then it got worse and worse and worse. And anyway, I went to the hospital, yeah, and it was bad and they kept me in and... in the cardiac department, what's it called? Coronary Care or whatever for four days. And, yeah, and I was pretty buggered and I'm... my heart, yeah, it is pretty buggered." - Phillip

The men also reported that the abuse seriously impacted their mental health over the course of the relationship. Many of the men spoke of the mental toll that the abuse had taken on them, often describing the relationship as "stressful" and "exhausting." Accounts of depression and anxiety were not uncommon amongst the men, as well as experiencing diminished self-esteem over time and suicidal ideation. Erik described how the abuse exacerbated existing insecurities and gradually ate away at his self-confidence.

"I say it's corrosive. It was very slowly eating away and eating away at my... at my self-esteem. I guess it's sort of like having the flu, and when you've got the flu it sort of goes to your weak part. [...] And as I was growing up as a kid I was a very skinny kid and a little bit sort of picked on at school that, "You're the skinny kid and you're not good at rugby," and that sort of thing, so it brought all that out for me and it sort of went, oh, you're too skinny. You're not... you're not a desirable person to have as a loving partner. You're inadequate. You're not good enough. If only you were a proper sized man then women would like you, your wife would like you. So, you start telling yourself those stories. You start agreeing with what people tell you, so." - Erik

Some of the men discussed how the abusive relationship led them to violating their own morals and personal beliefs, and the shame they still carried because of that. Of these men, most of them were upset that they had physically retaliated against their partner, especially given their dislike of violence. Patrick, however, discussed how the abuse

discouraged him from intervening when his partner was psychologically aggressive to her own parents.

"So, I didn't object at all to [Partner]'s treatment of her mother and that whole situation which is really quite appalling of course, but I just ... I just couldn't even go there... [...] I turned a blind eye to that which, you know, now doesn't sit well with me at all and... and just rubs against every sense I have around tikanga and how you treat your seniors, you know. [...] So, that was another aspect that I guess that I was affected by in the dynamic of that relationship was that I had to... [...] ... or I chose to not listen or not follow through with tikanga, that I would otherwise have objected to." - Patrick

Men were also financially and/or professionally impacted by the aggression. Some men reported spending large amounts of money to keep their partners happy or talked about being unable to pursue their professional ambitions. Phillip discussed closing down his business due to the physical aggression he had sustained from his partner.

"So, I had a van that was smashed up and my foot was broken and I had a business and I couldn't do any of my work so I was handing it on to other people and I ended up losing a lot of customers and... with the damage to my van and stuff. So I ended up folding it up, closing it down, and she was very happy about that. [laughs]" - Phillip

Some of the men discussed how their female partners intentionally isolated them from their friends and family. Abusive female partners would vocalise their disapproval of anyone close to the men, or would attempt to create barriers, such as keeping the men busy with other priorities. However, not all of the men believed that their partners were solely to blame for the isolation they experience. Some men explained that the isolation could also be a result of dedicating themselves to their family and their careers.

"It's never quite as simple as any one thing, I reckon, and it's a combination of a number of things. And just the fact that your life is so busy when you're a young parent, and that I was so taken up with work as well. I mean, it takes all your time and your energy up. I mean, again, you need to have that for friendships, to put... to put that into it, and if that's all used up, then, kinda hard to maintain those friendships." - Alex

Despite experiencing a range of physical injuries and sometimes severe physical aggression, the men reported that the psychological aggression they experienced had the most harmful consequences for them and took the longest amount of time to heal from.

"A lot of women who have experienced both actually say the psychological abuse is harder to get over than the physical abuse. Physical scars heal more quickly. And I still carry effects of it. I don't think I'm healed. I can rationalise it a lot. But I'm in no way healed from that." - Erik

Though the aggression had a multitude of direct and indirect consequences for the men, they also reported that the abuse was not solely responsible for these harms. Men described other stresses in their lives – unrelated to the abuse – that added to their problems and compounded the effects of the abuse.

"I kind of felt worn down, because I was working six and seven days a week. I was working self-employed, doing what I do, and I was working on the house all the time, and we were building an extension - I was trying to placate her, you know, make the house a bit bigger. And we had young children, so, kind of perfect storm territory, really. You know, quite big stresses." - Alex

3.2 Spillover Effects for Children

The aggression did not only impact on the men, but reportedly had short-term and long-term consequences for their children. Despite trying to limit what their children saw, men often reported that their children witnessed aggression and conflict that occurred between them and their partner.

"It was just really upsetting to me, because I could, you know, I'd look at the kids and go... and they were, because they were so little at that stage, it... it just was really hurtful to me. You know, I could see how it was affecting them and just thinking, 'Oh, you know, this is, just isn't gonna work." - Alex

Some of the men reported that their female intimate partners were abusive to their children, too. Children could be indirectly placed in harm's way due to mothers not being

mindful of their actions (such as throwing objects or nearly jamming children's fingers in slammed doors), or mothers could be physically and/or verbally aggressive towards children. Some of the children also experienced neglect from their mothers. David discussed how his partner frequently disregarded their daughter's wellbeing:

"Taking the kid out for shopping, not buckling her in. [...] Leaving her in soiled nappies the whole day. [...] Her getting baby rashes and everything, you know, just...." - David

Some of the men reported that their children chose sides between their parents. Some of the children chose their mother's side, even when they had witnessed their mother be aggressive towards the men. However, other children supported the men through the abuse.

"I think they were very much taking [Partner]'s side. My daughter, [Daughter], once, I was saying to her, you know, "Your mum hasn't been very nice to me," and she said, "I won't believe that." I said, "Well, I'll get mum to come inside and, you know, she'll tell you." And she said, "I don't care what mum says, I still won't believe it."" - Erik

"And the second eldest daughter, she supported me through the whole thing and, you know, she even... because she doesn't have anything to do with her mother at the moment either, 'cause she's had a lot of mental and verbal abuse over the years from her and... but she's been a big support." - Phillip

For some of the children, witnessing aggression eventually led to them emulating similar types of aggression towards their parents and/or siblings.

"And that's the worst thing for me as a father... [...] ...is to then have those violent acts given to me. [...] ...so, for [Daughter] to do it to me." - William

"But I think that's had an impact on the... from the violence, from the act of, bullying, [Partner] trying to bully, physically bully me because, [Daughter 1] did that same thing to [Daughter 2], so [Daughter 2]'s actually been subjected to quite a lot of bullying, verbal [1.34.23], kicking, booting, hitting, bitching, just that... just the edging it on, edging it on to try and bring her down." - Liam

4. Breaking Free

This theme describes how men progressed to leaving the abusive relationship, and their subsequent experiences post-separation. Four subthemes were identified, which described the process of drawing a line, men's experiences of post-separation abuse, loves strong pull maintaining their attachments to their abusive partner, and how men put the pieces together.

4.1 Drawing a Line

For many of the men, the decision to "draw a line" with the abuse and terminate the relationship was a gradual process. Despite having a multitude of reasons to stay in the relationship, the aggression men were experiencing also began to dissolve some of these reasons over time. Some of the men reported eventually feeling more disconnected from their partner as a result of the abuse.

"She would just change quite a lot and I felt like she was... I was getting further and further away. [...] I was doing everything while she would be a separate person and I felt a drift coming on board." - David

Although the men reported staying with their partners for the sake of their children, they also reported reaching a point where they recognised the aggression could be harmful to the children's safety and wellbeing. Men's concerns focused around the children accidentally or intentionally being harmed, and/or how witnessing the aggression would affect their children developmentally.

"That's why I couldn't see it really working out, because I just couldn't stomach having that around children, and I know for a fact how, um, insidious that is, in terms of the way it affects children, and the latest research about children in New Zealand. It's... the main point was how toxic that is, you know, people think it's better to stay together, but in fact it's quite harmful for children to be around all that sort of toxicness." - Alex

While men did not initially realise that their partner's behaviours were abusive, recognising their partner's double standards did facilitate some recognition of the

inappropriateness of their partner's behaviours. Men identified examples of their partner not holding themselves to the same high standards; a form of hypocrisy that reinforced to the men that they were being treated unfairly.

"Yeah, I wasn't allowed my patched friends, yet she was allowed friends that — even though they weren't patched, they had [1.32.08] friends that were. By that point I realised that, you know, she had just systematically isolated me. And now I'm stuck and I don't know how to get out." - Julien

Men also recognised the inappropriateness of their partner's abuse through role reversal, realising that if they had done the same thing to their partner, that would be viewed as unacceptable and they would be condemned for it.

"I just felt that that was unacceptable and I kept telling her, I said... when she first... the first one, I said, "Hang on, if I did that to you, you'd be the first one on the phone to that but it's okay for you to do it?" and I think that resonated in her but there was still no apology." - Liam

Education helped some of the men understand their experiences of aggression and identify that they might be experiencing abuse. Learning about different types of aggression or hearing about similar experiences from other men helped men recognise that what they were experiencing could be classified as violence or abuse.

"I just don't think I really understood it, to be honest with you. That's where a friend of mine helped me quite a lot. He showed me some stuff, some talks on the internet and psychological, sort of research about the psychological and emotional abuse kind of stuff. [...] So, I started to understand it a bit more. But, yeah, I think I kind of pretty much knew it wasn't okay, or it wasn't good, but... Yeah, really I was just living with it." - Alex

Towards the end of the relationship, some of the men recognised that the behaviours they were experiencing could be described as abusive. Though men reported that they knew the aggression was not okay earlier in the relationship, the harms associated with the relationship made the abuse more salient to the men.

"No, towards the end. So, within the last five years I would say to [Partner], "This is psychological abuse. I'm enduring psychological abuse." "Bullshit," she'd say. "Bullshit." [...] Well, yeah, it absolutely was psychological abuse, emotional abuse, whatever way... whatever way you wanna call it, um, and very harmful." - Erik

As the abuse persisted over time, men also began to lose hope that their partners would cease being aggressive towards them. Dean described how the realisation that the abuse was unlikely to desist encouraged him to leave the relationship:

"I had made a vow that I wouldn't go back until there was at least some recognition that we were having major, major issues and that she needed to change. And I didn't get that at all. [...] I couldn't... we couldn't keep going on like this. It wasn't getting through." - Dean

Due to the persistent nature of the abuse, men reported becoming increasingly fed up with the aggression and that the relationship eventually became untenable. All of the men reported separating from their partners, at least once, to end the aggression. Some of the men reported going through multiple break-ups before deciding to permanently terminate the relationship.

"We worked on reconciling but I came back and I... and I just found myself working even more, working harder to try and please her and in her head it was I've done all the wrong, you've gotta do it right. And it's like me, it's going, hang on, you actually need to start contributing, because this is how we were the last time." - Liam

For some of the men, the idea of terminating the relationship had been on their minds for quite some time before they decided to go through with it.

"I drew the line this year, [Year], I was in the kitchen cooking tea... [...] I was cooking tea and [Partner] ran across the room and punched me very hard on the arm. [...] [sigh] and it was... that was quite... that was it. [...] And I've been having thoughts about this is it for quite a long time." - William

Although most of the men broke up with their partners due to the abuse, their (now former) female partners continued to be aggressive towards them post-separation. Men

reported that the nature of the abuse changed following their break-up and/or the severity of the aggression further escalated.

"It just really escalated. And so she went on a... on quite a campaign to isolate me. So, I found quite a few friends just kind of turn their backs and, it became very isolating, so it was another level of... so, the abuse didn't stop after the relationship [laughs] stopped. It actually ramped up, for quite a while afterwards." - Patrick

In response to this ongoing aggression, men used different types of barriers to limit their partner's aggression. Some men enforced healthier boundaries with their now ex-partner and refused to give in to her demands. However, this strategy was ineffective at preventing their ex-partner's aggression.

"I said, "Well, no, I'm not going to give you any more money, because I've given you money and you haven't given me the receipts as you said you would, you know, to be fair and show me that you were spending it on what you said the requirements were for and stuff." [...] And so, then this kept going on and on [...] I could see what... it was just escalating." - Alex

Turning to legal services was another avenue that men used to limit post-separation aggression. Men would apply for parenting orders to ensure access to their children, apply for protection orders, or would file complaints with Police about their ex-partner.

"And eventually, after one situation where she lashed out at me, I lost it with her. It's like, "No, you're just not taking this on board." So, I filed a letter with the police, [Police Station], who wanted to press charges and follow through with it." - Liam

Another boundary utilised by some of the men was to limit their interactions with their abusive ex-partner. Men reported that they would only talk to their abusive ex-partners out of necessity or civility.

"I haven't spoken to her since my daughter's funeral and, um, that wasn't great, you know. It was like she blamed me for that which was just not fair and untrue, you know, completely untrue. [...] I haven't spoken to her since. I've made no effort to speak to her. I don't really want to, you know." - Leo

4.2 Post-Separation Abuse

Ongoing post-separation abuse was commonplace for the men who had separated from their abusive female partners. Parental alienation, in particular, featured heavily in men's accounts of post-separation abuse. This included women manipulating their children against their fathers, as well as attempting to separate father/child relationships by not keeping to informal arrangements. Men felt that their children were a medium for their expartners to continue exerting control over their lives.

"I had planned to go away to [Town] for I think about three or four days. This was over the summer holidays. And [Partner] was basically insistent that she come with us and when I made it clear that, you know, she wasn't going [laughs] to come to [Town] with us, then she basically prevented me from having my daughter for that whole time." - Dean

"I had been giving her amounts of money. Often, you know, she'd demand it, or it... It often has been using the children as kind of like a bargaining tool. "Give. Give me this amount of money, or else you're not going to be able to see the children or have them for the weekend," type of thing." - Alex

In some cases, abusive ex-partners found new romantic partners that were also aggressive towards the men. Chris discussed how his abusive ex-partner and her new girlfriend would abuse not only him, but also his children.

"You know, when they told me about that, the "[Partner's Girlfriend] — one, two, three, four, and [Partner's Girlfriend] wouldn't stop, and even mummy said, 'Stop'." And [Partner's Girlfriend] wasn't stopping, you know. [Son] is just stopped urinating on me, for shit's sake." - Chris

Men subsequently continued to be concerned for the safety and wellbeing of their children post-separation, including being fearful about how the parental alienation and their partner's ongoing aggression would affect their children developmentally. Some of the men were also worried about their children being influenced by their abusive ex-partners and exhibiting similar traits to her.

"The kids have taken on traits of her now and they've become same in some—some regards which I think is really bad in terms of their own personal development and their own personal journey because they're becoming very insular on themselves rather than others." - Liam

Men also found that legal-administrative abuse became more prominent post-separation. Men's abusive ex-partners would manipulate the biases in various professional services and agencies to facilitate separating men from their children. Some of the women would even falsely accuse men of being the abusive partner. These false accusations often described similar aggressive behaviours that the women had been exhibiting towards the men.

"She went to Women's Refuge and said she was in this abusive relationship. It's like, the whole thing was projected onto me. So, everything she did to me, she wrote up this statement, and it was like, this family court thing. And I was just gobsmacked. [...] Everything she's said about the behaviour, the erraticness, the elevation, was exactly what she was." - Chris

Some of the men reported that professional services, including Police and counsellors, treated them unfairly and favoured their female partners over them. They found that this added to the abuse, as the services could reinforce the aggression that they were already experiencing.

"She'd obviously chewed their ear and told me I was no... told the police that I was no good, and that I wasn't stepping up, living up to, you know, any sort of, decent father kind of material. And so, the duty sergeant gave me a bit of a yabbering to." - Alex

4.3 Loves Continuing Pull

Despite the ongoing aggression, some of the men still reported feeling attached and sympathetic towards their abusive ex-partners. Men continued to praise their partners and make excuses for their aggressive tendencies; complimenting their intelligence, their professional abilities, and/or their role as a mother.

"She's not a bad person. She's not some sort of evil monster that was trying to do... she was trying to be a good wife if you... if you'll excuse the expression, and I was trying to be a good husband, but something was messing it up, you know, and she didn't know what was messing." - Erik

Some of the men also reported feelings of loyalty and commitment to their partner, which made it difficult for them to report her to legal services.

"I filed a complaint at the police. They wanted to prosecute and I went if I prosecute she has no chance of getting income, she won't get a job, she won't get registration and my kids miss out. So, I can put up and shut up or I can go and prosecute. Hindsight I should have prosecuted because it might have made a big difference to her." - Liam

Even when men did pursue legal action against their partners, they sometimes found that their partners ignored and disregarded the legal boundaries that had been put in place.

Men felt especially disheartened when they discovered that the Police could not do much to enforce parenting and safety orders.

"I mean, I actually felt worse to be honest. I mean, if the police can't do anything at all, you know, they can't... they can't sort of try impose a parenting order, you know. [...] I guess the first time I did call them with the... I did hope that they might actually be able to do something, you know, be able to sort of like, you know, try to get a changeover so that I could have my daughter for that weekend. So it was kind of demoralising when that didn't happen." - Dean

Despite ongoing attachment and loyalty to their partners, overall the majority of the men expressed that they were reluctant to rekindle their relationship with their partner. The continued aggression they were experiencing and the mental toll the abuse had taken on them were common reasons for men to be reluctant to give their partners another chance.

"I think she's probably got a lot of unresolved issues going on in the background that she needs to sort out and this is why I've decided not to, you know, resume our [laughs] relationship at the moment because I feel that these issues need to be addressed, you know,

otherwise we're just going back to the same old where it's all my fault and she's justified." - Theo

4.4 Putting the Pieces Together

Following the abusive relationship, many of the men struggled to make sense out of the aggression they had experienced. Some of the men expressed ongoing confusion about what was real and fake in their relationship and felt as if they had been deceived.

"I swear, it's like she lied to me our entire relationship. Like, I look back now, this is why it's so hard, I look back, and for seven years, I don't think I ever knew this soul at all. And to have that feeling, to be so wrong - in a job that I do, and a spiritualness that I feel like I hold - it's just... that's what it... I... it does my head in. [...] I can't process it, 'cause I don't know what I'm dealing with." - Chris

Due to this ongoing confusion, some of the men sought out answers to explain their partner's aggression after the relationship. Seeking out formal and informal education about abuse, visiting clairvoyants, and talking to professional counsellors were some of the ways that men tried to gain further insight and understanding into the abusive relationship.

"I don't have the answer. I've been to some, some spiritual people to try and give me some answers of what's going, you know? 'Cause I, like I say, I don't know her. I've been living a lie for seven years. I don't know. [...] I went to a clairvoyant, she's like, "Just all I see, [Chris], is a warrior instinct, just a reaction." Just a reaction." - Chris

Despite the confusion, leaving the relationship did help men to reflect on and better understand their experiences. Looking back helped men to identify key moments where they believed they should have behaved differently or identified problem behaviours.

"I shouldn't have gotten involved with her, you know. She was dealing with the loss of her brother and it was a bad move, you know, and if I'd known then what I know now I would not have done it, you know. But what can I do?" - Liam

"I think I was just so tangled up in the whole situation, that it was only really... I was only really able to start to look at it afterwards. [...] Just so intricately tangled up in the web of it all that it's only afterwards that it... you can unravel it." - Alex

Men also reported ongoing feelings of self-blame for the abuse, feeling that they were responsible for the aggression and should have done more to prevent it occurring. Men could regret their inaction (such as not reporting incidents to the Police), not responding to the aggression differently, or not leaving the relationship sooner.

"And, yeah, she jumped on my foot and broke my foot and then, yeah, I went to the hospital, all that sort of stuff. The police came. I said nothing. I sort of just covered it up. I should have said something. I should have done something about it then." - Phillip

For some men, their attempts to understand their experiences were further impeded by difficulties labelling their experiences as "abuse." The labels "abuse" and "violence" meant something different to them.

"I still find it hard sort of talking about that, sort of saying that it's violence — even the psychological stuff. [...] It's still ingrained in me, the word violence is physical, it's just — or sexual. [...] I still... you know, but, like, psychological violence, when people say that, it's like, well, hang on, how's psychological stuff violent? Like, how is the word... you know, I think about the word, the literal meaning of it. And it just doesn't..." - Reuben

Despite finding it difficult to make sense of the abuse, many of the men found meaning in the relationship by discussing the personal growth that had followed. The men reported that they learned valuable life lessons from the abuse, which improved their self-awareness and helped them to grow as a person.

"It was quite a journey for me I think to just to really come to accept that there were things of course that I can't control [laughs] and... and I think in some way it was... it was brilliant training [laughs] that life gave me, to... for me to take back something inside of me that I had given out, you know, to other people to determine, you know, the value of my... of my intentions or, you know, what I can... what I can do." - Patrick

Discussion

The present study explored how thirteen men with children experienced the process of IPA. Semi-structured interviews were conducted and analysed using reflexive thematic analysis (Braun & Clarke, 2006, 2013), whereby patterns of meaning were identified across the interviews to understand men's lived experiences of IPA and how the abuse plays out over time. By doing so, the project aims to provide a voice to an at-risk population that has been largely neglected in research and practice (Dixon & Graham-Kevan, 2011; Laskey et al. 2019). Four themes were identified that captured common patterns across each individual's experience of IPA. These themes were *The emotional pull, Stuck, Negative impacts of abuse*, and *Breaking free*.

Summary of Findings

The emotional pull consisted of two subthemes, which described how positive beginnings facilitated men becoming emotionally invested in their relationships. The early stages of a relationship are theorised to be the easiest period to leave an abusive partner, as control has not yet been established over the victim (Ciurra, 2018). However, the present study's findings suggest that recognising the *need* to leave an abusive partner during the early stages was difficult for the men. Largely positive beginnings that were free of aggression created a genuine attachment between men and their partners, which subsequently led to them overlooking any "odd" or "inappropriate" behaviours. Similar to Migliaccio's (2002) findings, it was only once men had made a significant commitment – thus incentivising men to stay with their partner – that a female partner's aggression became apparent. This study expands upon these findings by also identifying that lower-level aggression was occurring before these commitments. Thus, there is an opportunity before commitments occur for men to recognise "red flags" for future aggression.

69

By the time the aggression had become noticeable in the relationship, men were already emotionally invested in their female partners and their children. Previous qualitative studies have found that men persist in abusive relationships due to a strong sense of commitment to partners and their family, fears of being separated from their children, and concerns for their children's well-being (Bates & Liu, 2020b; Corbally, 2014; Lien & Lorentzen, 2019; Migliaccio, 2002; Morgan & Wells, 2016). Similarly, men in the present study reported that they were committed to making the relationship work for the sake of their partner and their children. In a qualitative systematic review of research into women's experiences of love in abusive relationships, women experienced a similar honeymoon period with their male partners where they became romantically attached to their male partners (Pocock, Jackson, & Bradbury-Jones, 2020). Alongside feelings of fear and being hopeful that their partner would change, this romantic attachment was one reason that women reportedly stayed in the abusive relationship – particularly as women felt committed to the relationship, their partner, and their children (Pocock et al. 2020). Likewise, men's beliefs about what it meant to be a "good" husband and father contributed to them tolerating the abuse and staying in the relationship. The emotional bond that the men had built with their female partners during the honeymoon period and the men's commitment to their children meant they were reluctant to leave the relationship.

In addition to being invested in their partners and their children, a series of other factors delayed the men leaving the relationship. *Stuck* outlined the many different factors that prolonged and maintained the abusive relationship, which were divided into five subthemes named *the changing nature and severity of abuse, excuses, problem-solving, the cycle of appeasement,* and *gendered responses to aggression*. Overall, the findings from this section fit broadly with Walker's (2017) theory about learned helplessness in battered women, where unsuccessful attempts to control the violence would create self-blame,

passivity and a reduced ability to consider leaving the relationship if the aggression continued. The unpredictable and persistent nature of the aggression created this learned helplessness, leading women to believe that they could not control the abuse and should instead find ways to cope with aggression. Similarly, men went through a process of finding ways to deal with and prevent the aggression, which delayed their decisions to leave.

Following a significant commitment between men and their partners, a variety of physical, sexual and psychological aggression emerged in the relationship following a significant commitment between men and their partners, which has been previously identified across numerous studies (Bates, 2019; Bates & Liu, 2020b; Machado et al. 2017; Migliaccio, 2002; Morgan & Wells, 2016; Tilbrook et al. 2010). Similar to previous qualitative studies, these varied forms of aggression did not begin at the same time, but gradually emerged and changed over the course of the abusive relationship (Allen-Collinson, 2009; Dixon et al. 2020; Morgan & Wells, 2016). However, the current study did not find that abuse always followed the same progression from verbal into physical aggression that was outlined in Bates & Liu's (2020b) study. Some of the men, such as Chris, reported that the physical aggression occurred well before any psychological aggression became apparent, and that this physical violence could occur suddenly and in the absence of any "egg-shelling" period. Nonetheless, all of the men reported that aggression escalated over time. This gradual escalation of violence facilitated men tolerating more and more severe forms of abuse, mirroring findings from past studies and the process of normalisation that was described by Dixon and colleagues (2020; Lien & Lorentzen, 2019; Morgan & Wells, 2016). Not realising that their female partner's behaviours could be classed as "abusive" further hindered men's ability to recognise the aggression for what it was and set appropriate boundaries (Bates & Liu, 2020b; Lien & Lorentzen, 2019; Migliaccio, 2002; Sita & Dear, 2019). An inability to recognise their experiences as IPA coupled with the gradual normalisation of aggression led

to some men reaching a point where the violence had become so entrenched and severe, they were unsure how the aggression had even managed to reach such a point.

Similar to previous studies, men provided a plethora of excuses and justifications for their partner's aggression. Though men did not immediately recognise their partner's behaviours as "abuse," they knew their partner's aggression was inappropriate. However, men's emotional investment in their partner facilitated them attempting to understand or explain the aggression. These rationalisations ranged from internal factors affecting their partner (such as mental health issues, hormonal changes, past trauma and their childhood experiences) to external influences on their partner (such as men blaming themselves for their partner's abuse, stressful events, and people outside the relationship manipulating their partners) (Dixon et al. 2020; Migliaccio, 2002). "Jekyll-Hyde" behaviours were also reported, which are believed to make acceptance of the abuse easier (Migliaccio, 2002). Justifying abuse facilitates men overlooking the aggression and impedes their ability to exit the relationship, subsequently leading them to "accept" the abuse that they are experiencing.

Excusing aggression can also encourage the belief that there is a cause for the aggression that is capable of being "fixed," as outlined in the subtheme of *problem-solving*. Men reported using a wide variety of coping strategies to withstand the abuse, including alcohol use, throwing themselves into their work, and disassociating, all of which have been found in previous studies (Allen-Collinson, 2009; Lien & Lorentzen, 2019; Migliaccio, 2002). Dixon and colleagues (2020) also described how feelings of self-blame led to men "solving" aggression by managing and monitoring their own behaviours. The current study builds upon these findings by exploring a variety of other ways that men would problem solve the aggression, such as trying to communicate with their partners about the aggression, seeking advice from their partner's family, and/or encouraging their partners to seek help from professional services. By addressing perceived causes of abuse, men were hopeful that

their partner was capable of changing and that the aggression would cease, as found in past studies (Bates & Liu, 2020b; Lien & Lorentzen, 2019; Migliaccio, 2002). In most cases, these strategies were unsuccessful at stopping the aggression, and could even facilitate further aggression against the men. Men's attempts at problem-solving were thus largely unsuccessful and the aggression continued.

Another commonly reported method of preventing aggression was appearement (Dixon et al. 2020; Migliaccio, 2002). Our current study expanded on prior findings by exploring how appearement facilitated men becoming further entrenched in the abuse, increasing their stress levels as they tried to anticipate their partner's aggression and intensely monitored their own behaviours (Allen-Collinson, 2009; Dixon et al. 2020; Migliaccio, 2002). Similar to studies conducted with women, men subsequently became attuned to signs of aggression and experienced egg-shelling periods where they were unable to anticipate when or what would happen, but knew that something would happen (Abrahams & Humphreys, 2007). Due to the limited effectiveness of this appearement, men became trapped in a cycle of doing their best to keep their partner happy, their partner inevitably finding another reason to "blow up," and then working even harder to appease their partner and prevent further aggression. This created a vicious cycle that led to feelings of helplessness for many of the men. The fear and anxiety experienced by men as they tried to prevent aggression also contradicts findings that men do not experience fear in their abusive relationships (Nybergh et al. 2016), and mirrors prior studies that indicate men are afraid of many aspects of IPA – but do not express fear for their life (Brooks et al. 2020; Sita & Dear, 2019).

Men often reported not knowing what the "best" response was during an aggressive incident. They felt that their options were limited, particularly due to gendered norms that condemned men's use of violence against women. A pattern of demand-withdraw tactics was

reported to be the "safest" option for men but was not always successful at ending an aggressive episode. Physically defending themselves was not a viable option for many of the men, either, due to fears of inflicting harm and social taboos about hitting women (Allen-Collinson, 2009; Bates & Liu.; Dixon et al. 2020; Lien & Lorentzen, 2019; Migliaccio, 2002). However, some men did eventually strike back or restrain their partners (Lien & Lorentzen, 2019; Migliaccio, 2002), though our study found such responses only occurred after prolonged exposure to aggression and were accompanied with persistent feelings of shame. As most men did not retaliate, this meant that the nature of the abuse was largely one-sided; contradictory to assertions that men are unlikely to experience a pattern of violence and control from their female partners, and that female aggression largely occurs in the context of VR (Johnson, 2008; Ali & Naylor, 2013). Men found that there was very little that they could do in these scenarios and subsequently felt defenceless during aggression; with some men reporting that they could do nothing but "accept" the abuse and wait until it was over.

Negative impacts of abuse detailed the many negative consequences that the abuse had for men and their children, which was separated into two subthemes: negative impacts on men and spillover effects on children. The numerous negative impacts of abuse are well-documented in existing research, with men in this study commonly reporting that they had experienced long-term physical injuries and health complications, symptoms of depression and suicidal ideation, erosion of men's self-esteem, and social isolation (Bates & Liu; 2020a; Krug et al. 2002; Lagdon et al. 2014; Machado et al. 2017; Migliaccio, 2002; Perryman & Appleton, 2016). However, some of the men reported that the abuse was not the sole reason for their experiences of social isolation. Being too busy with work and family commitments reportedly made it difficult for fathers to maintain their relationships with others. Parenthood can reduce the amount of time that a person has for other activities, which can create feelings

of social isolation (Levesque, Bisson, Charton, & Fernet, 2020). Similarly, some men reported that it was the cumulative effect of the abuse and unrelated stressors in their lives that significantly impacted on their well-being. Thus, when developing relevant practices and policies for male survivors of IPA, it is important to keep in mind the wider context that the abuse is taking place in; particularly for fathers who have competing commitments and generally may find maintaining their social relationships more difficult once they have children.

While the current study did not include the perspectives of men's children, most of the men believed that their children had been directly or indirectly impacted by the abuse. As found in past studies, men could be abused in front of their children, despite their best efforts to limit what the children witnessed (Corbally, 2014; Dixon et al. 2020). As a result, the men in this study found that their children tended to choose a side between their parents. Given the varied impacts of witnessing IPA on children that has been documented in prior studies (e.g. Edleson, 2001; Sternberg et al. 2006; Wood & Sommers, 2011), being aware of children in abusive households is important, particularly as the longer a child is exposed to IPA the more likely they are to develop adjustment problems (Vu et al. 2016). Thus, early intervention is essential for children in households where IPA is occurring.

In some cases, a female intimate partner was also abusive towards men's children, whereby women could be neglectful, physically violent, and/or psychologically aggressive. Prior studies have found significant overlap between IPA in households and different forms of child maltreatment (Edleson, 1999; Dixon, Hamilton-Giachritsis, Browne, & Ostapuik, 2007; Hartley, 2004; McGuigan & Pratt, 2001; Osofsky, 2003). Being raised in a physically violent home can also increase the likelihood of later IPA perpetration for male children and IPA victimisation for female children (Smith-Marek et al. 2015), though some studies contest that men are not more likely to perpetrate IPA if they witness female-to-male violence in

their family of origin (Eriksson & Mazerolle, 2015). Though assessing long-term impacts of witnessing IPA was outside the scope of the current study, some of the men did report that their children began emulating similar types of aggression to one or both of their parents, and sometimes their siblings, too. Prior research has suggested that witnessing IPA in childhood may increase a person's likelihood of exhibiting other forms of aggression, such as bullying, and IPV perpetration in adulthood (e.g. Voisin & Hong, 2012; Kimber, Adham, McTavish & MacMillan, 2018), with some theoretical frameworks believing that children can "learn" aggression from their parents (Mihalic & Elliott, 1997; Frieze, Newhill & Fusco, 2020). The cumulative effect of witnessing IPA and experiencing maltreatment also produces a greater likelihood of children experiencing internalising and externalising problems, depending on the child's age (Brown, Rhoades, Marti, & Lewis, 2021; Sternberg et al. 2006). As such, this study draws further attention to the importance of services assessing for child maltreatment in reported cases of IPA. Furthermore, the study highlights the need to acknowledge that some women may be mistreating their child not because they are victims of IPA, but instead the perpetrators.

The final theme, *Breaking free*, identified four subthemes labelled *drawing a line*, *post-separation abuse*, *loves strong pull*, and *putting the pieces together*. This theme described the factors that led up to men breaking up with their partners, and how the aggression played out afterwards as men endeavoured to move forwards with their lives. The findings broadly fit into past studies about women's experiences of leaving an abusive partner, whereby the process was often nonlinear and complicated by conflicting emotions about their abuser and the effects of the abuse (Childress, Panchanadeswaran, & Joshi, 2021; Abrahams & Humphreys, 2007; Scheffer Lindgren & Renck, 2008). This study expands upon these findings by outlining similarities and differences to men's experiences of leaving abusive female partners.

Leaving an abusive partner can be a long and dynamic process (Abrahams & Humphreys, 2007; Childress et al. 2021; Scheffer Lindgren & Renck, 2008). Men reported becoming increasingly fed-up with aggression over time, particularly as their partner's showed no signs of desisting from the abuse. For the men in the present study, "drawing a line" with the abuse and leaving their female partners was a gradual decision that men could spend a prolonged amount of time deliberating on. As found in previous studies (e.g. Hellemans et al. 2015; Panuzio & DiLillo, 2010), men became gradually disconnected and dissatisfied with their relationship due to the abuse. The persistence and escalating severity of the violence, recognising the harmful impacts of the abuse on men and their children, and becoming educated about abusive relationships were all reported "turning points" that have been identified in previous studies. Despite only 2.6% of Murray and colleagues' (2015) participants identifying as male, our study added to previous qualitative findings that these turning points also commonly feature in men's accounts of abuse (Allen-Collinson, 2009; Lien & Lorentzen, 2019; Nayback-Beebe & Yoder, 2012). Furthermore, gradually recognising that their partner was not going to change facilitated men leaving the relationship, as reported in Migliaccio's (2002) study and research with women (Abrahams & Humphreys, 2007; Childress et al. 2021). However, the study adds to previous findings by identifying that ending the relationship was not enough to end the abuse that men were experiencing. Men continued to search for ways to establish boundaries with their partners post-separation to limit the persisting abuse, particularly as they had ongoing contact with their partners due to their shared child(ren).

Accounts of post-separation abuse commonly featured children being a medium through which female ex-partners would continue to control the men (Bates, 2019; Bates & Liu, 2020b; Corbally, 2014; Dixon et al. 2020; Morgan & Wells, 2016). Limiting men's contact with their children, manipulating and damaging father-child relationships, and

instigating lengthy custody battles were all examples of the parental alienation that men were experiencing post-separation. Women could also facilitate this alienation through legal-admin abuse (Tilbrook et al. 2010), with services often being sympathetic towards the mother and her false allegations of the men being the abusive party. Women making false accusations of abuse against the men has also been documented in past studies (Machado et al. 2017; Morgan & Wells, 2016) and highlights the importance of a fair and inclusive response in the legal system and help-seeking agencies. Existing research has documented the perpetuation of harm and secondary abuse that men experience when formal services are biased and unsupportive of them (Douglas, Hines, & McCarthy, 2012; Machado et al. 2020; Walker et al. 2019). Given the importance of fatherhood to abused men (Corbally, 2014) and the effects that alienation can have on children (Bentley & Matthewson, 2020; Poustie et al. 2018) it is important that these biases in the system are addressed for the benefits of both men and their children.

Studies on women's decisions to leave abusive partners have documented that leaving is not a straightforward nor linear process, sometimes with multiple instances of terminating and reconciling the relationship (Childress et al. 2021; Khaw & Hardesty, 2007). This was similarly found in the experiences of men in this study, whereby ongoing feelings of self-blame and attachment to their ex-partners could tether men to the relationship. The emotional attachment that was established earlier in the relationship persisted at later stages, even once men had left the relationship. Despite this, at the time of the interviews, most of the men expressed that they were reluctant to rekindle the relationship unless they had some indication that the relationship would be different the next time around. This belief and desire for female partners' capacity for change appeared throughout men's accounts of abuse, and was an important factor in men's decisions about staying, leaving, or re-entering the abusive relationship. However, theories on women's decisions to leave abusive relationships highlight

the complex nature of this process, with a variety of individual, familial, and sociocultural factors shaping their decisions (Barrios et al. 2020; Heim et al. 2018). Thus, decisions about leaving – and staying out of – an abusive relationship appear to be a complex process that warrants further exploration in research.

Once out of their abusive relationships, men committed a notable amount of time to "making sense" of their experiences of IPA. Some of the men continued to struggle with labelling their partner as "abusive," and sought answers about why the abuse had happened. For women recovering from abusive relationships, accessing information about how their experiences could be defined as violence and abuse was perceived to be helpful for moving on (Childress et al. 2021; Flasch, Murray, & Crowe, 2017). The present study expands these findings to acknowledge that making sense of abusive experiences was also important to the men, who expressed ongoing confusion about the *how* and the *why* of the abusive relationship. Prior studies have highlighted the importance of promoting knowledge about female-to-male violence and using appropriate language to help men gain autonomy and agency, thus breaking the pattern of abuse and aiding men's recovery (Dixon & Graham-Kevan, 2020; Dixon et al. 2020; McCarrick et al. 2016; Walker et al. 2019). Thus, providing education about the gender inclusivity and the nature of IPA may be beneficial for men to understand their experiences of abuse and aid their recovery process.

Furthermore, men often talked about the lessons they had learned from the relationship and the personal growth they had experienced. A review of studies into women's psychological growth following abusive relationships found that positive changes in self-perception (such as increased self-awareness and self-confidence) was one positive outcome experienced after IPA (Ulloa et al. 2015). Improving personal agency, self-reliance and self-esteem was also a particularly important part of women's recovery process in the aftermath of IPA, (Anderson, Renner, & Danis, 2012; Childress et al. 2021; Flasch et al. 2017). What

benefits men during the recovery process has not been as explored to the same extent as women. However, focusing on educating men about the nature of IPA, improving personal agency, and using appropriate language appear to be important avenues for future research to explore.

Recommendations for policy and practice

The present study, along with broader literature, has described the emergence and maintenance of IPA over the course of men's abusive relationships, as well as men's experiences of moving forwards post-separation. Given the significant harms associated with IPA and the self-perpetuating cycles that men can become entrapped in, it is important that relevant policies and services are available to address the needs of these men and their children. Findings in the present study highlighted several points on how policies and practices could be informed and implemented.

First, the importance of early prevention has been identified. Men reported how abuse gradually unfolded over the course of the relationship, overlooking early "red flags" of aggression and subsequently becoming "stuck" with their abusive partners for a variety of reasons. Thus, men may benefit from educational programmes and awareness campaigns about IPA. Dating violence programmes are a commonly studied tool to educate young people about healthy relationships and IPA. One meta-analysis looked at 23 dating violence prevention studies delivered to middle and high school students, and found that intervention programmes significantly increased knowledge and decreased approval of dating violence (De La Rue et al. 2017). However, there are concerns about whether changes in knowledge and attitudes result in actual behaviour changes, as these programmes did not reduce incidence rates of dating violence (De La Rue et al. 2017). Furthermore, the extent to which these programmes address men's experiences of IPA and whether attitude changes persist in

adulthood is unclear. However, the importance of outreach programmes presenting a complete picture of IPA – as opposed to a narrow representation that portrays this phenomenon as primarily involving male-to-female violence – has been emphasised in prior research (Espinoza & Warner, 2016).

In terms of intervention, broader awareness campaigns and education about the nature of IPA may be beneficial. A multitude of factors were identified as keeping men "stuck" in the abusive relationship, serving to prolong their exposure to the abuse. Some of the men reported that knowledge that combated their reasons for staying – such as being aware of the harm that could be inflicted on their children – facilitated some of the men's decisions for leaving. Thus, relevant services, such as healthcare and midwifery, would be in an advantageous position to distribute information to expecting parents about the negative impacts that IPA has on children and relevant information about help-seeking agencies.

Greater service accessibility, training and education pertaining to victimisation of males, and dedicated sources for male victims are a previously identified need in IPA services (Espinoza & Warner, 2016).

Many of the men in the present study also spoke about knowing that their partner's aggression was not "okay." However, they were initially unaware that the behaviours could be classified as abusive, as men's situations did not fit their understandings of what IPA looked like. Media campaigns are one avenue that may be beneficial for changing norms around IPA. Prior research has identified several components of media campaigns that facilitate increased awareness and changing norms around responses to IPA (Donovan & Vlais, 2005). While these campaigns were targeted at male perpetrators and female victims of IPA, the development of similar campaigns around men's experiences of victimisation may be helpful. Additionally, distributing resources that detail the various forms of abuse may combat men's preconceived notions about what IPA looks like. However, it should be noted

that some of the men reported ongoing difficulties labelling their experiences as violence or abuse even after being educated about IPA. Thus, service providers may need to be mindful about the language they use when advertising their services to men. As prior research has identified similar experiences of abuse help men (and women) recognise the applicability to their own situations, providing concrete examples of behaviours and avoiding labels such as "abuse" and "violence" may facilitate uptake of services from men experiencing IPA.

Finally, experiences of post-separation abuse, particularly legal-admin abuse against the men, highlights the need for services to be more open and gender inclusive to men's experiences of IPA. Improving education and awareness in sectors where men may seek support from – such as legal services – is important so that men who are victimised do not experience secondary abuse from these organisations and agencies. Existing research with women discuss the importance of social support and formal help-seeking support from agencies as being crucial to assisting women (Anderson et al. 2012; Childress et al. 2021; Flasch et al. 2017), and prior studies into men's experiences have documented the importance of help-seeking agencies being responsive and gender inclusive in order to not re-traumatise men that have already been through a difficult experience (Douglas, Hines, & McCarthy, 2012; Lysova et al. 2020; Machado et al. 2016; McCarrick et al. 2016). Given the range of negative impacts already associated with IPA, agencies should be appropriately equipped and educated to mitigate further harm to this population of men.

Limitations and future research

While qualitative studies are a useful approach to exploring and detailing people's lived experiences of a given phenomenon, the process of thematic analysis comes with its own limitations. As acknowledged in the methodology of the present study, the author held their own stereotypes and ideas about IPA that were informed by public perceptions, personal

experiences, and prior education. Although efforts were made to accurately reflect men's personal perceptions and experiences of the process of IPA, it cannot be assumed that implicit beliefs and biases did not influence identified themes and overall findings.

Furthermore, findings from the present study do not necessarily generalise to wider populations. Men who participated in the research were self-selecting and predominantly recruited through help-seeking agencies. Straus and Gelles (1999) have previously pointed out that findings from help-seeking agencies cannot be assumed to be representative of the wider population. Thus, interviewees may have differed from men who declined to participant in an interview or had not approached these agencies. For example, the study does not include the perspectives of men who did not seek help for the IPA – either because they did not feel the abuse was severe enough, did not know where to go, or did not recognise their experiences as abusive. Additionally, all interviewees elected to stay with their female partners for at least a year after experiencing "red flags." Thus, experiences may differ for men who choose to leave earlier in the relationship. Further studies, therefore, should expand to more general populations to capture the experiences of men outside of these help-seeking samples, potentially through methods such as qualitative online surveys that can reach a wider population (e.g. Walker et al. 2019). Finally, interviews were specifically selected to investigate experiences of unidirectional abuse. The generalisability of the present study's findings to bidirectional abuse is therefore unknown and future research is needed to explore men's experiences in the context of this common form of IPA (Bates, Straus, & Winstok, 2016).

Although the present study identified factors that influenced men's decisions to stay or leave abusive relationships, this was done in the broader scope of the process of abuse.

Thus, the present study does not necessarily capture the intricacies and complexities that guided men's decision-making processes. Furthermore, men's recovery process (particularly

in the face of ongoing abuse from their abusive ex-partners) has not been largely explored in the literature. It would be useful to explore other factors that facilitate men's recovery in the aftermath of IPA, asides from education and sense-making of their experiences. As such, further research could be dedicated to questions around the facilitators and barriers for men leaving an abusive relationship, as well as what factors benefit the recovery process and discourage men from re-entering the relationship.

Conclusion

By exploring the lived experiences of thirteen men who lived with children at the time of the abuse, this study demonstrated that men can experience severe aggressive and coercive behaviours that escalate and evolve over time. These experiences of aggression can subsequently have a host of negative impacts on men and their children. In speaking about their experiences, men identified a host of internal and interpersonal factors that maintained the relationship over time, essentially prolonging their exposure to the abuse. Of particular concern is how men get locked into cycles in the abusive relationship, from which further research needs to explore men's decision-making process about staying, leaving and reentering abusive relationships. Additionally, these findings highlight the difficulties men experience after the relationship, particularly in the form of post-separation abuse and trying to make sense of their experiences afterwards. Thus, the present study adds to a growing body of qualitative literature about men's experiences of IPA; particularly in regards to the emergence, progression and maintenance of abuse during and after the abusive relationship. Greater education and awareness about IPA is an essential component for encouraging early recognition of abuse and facilitate leaving abusive relationships. This growing understanding will need to be incorporated into the development of more gender inclusive approaches to policy, practice, and resources to mitigate harms that abusive relationships can cause men.

References

- Abrahams, H., & Humphreys, C. (2007). Supporting women after domestic violence: Loss, trauma and recovery. Jessica Kingsley Publishers.
- Ali, P. A. & Naylor, P. B. (2013). Intimate partner violence: A narrative review of the feminist, social and ecological explanations for its causation. *Aggression and Violent Behaviour*, 18(6), 611-619. doi: 10.1016/j.avb.2013.07.009
- Allen-Collinson, J. (2009). A marked man: A case of female-perpetrated intimate partner abuse. *International Journal of Men's Health*, 8(1), 22-40.
- Anderson, K.M., Renner, L.M., & Danis, F.S. (2012). Recovery: Resilience and growth in the aftermath of domestic violence. *Violence against women*, 18(11), 1279-1299. doi: 10.1177/107780121247054
- Archer J. (2000). Sex differences in aggression between heterosexual partners: a metaanalytic review. *Psychol Bulletin*, 126(5), 651-680.
- Banister, P. (2017). Forensic Psychology. In C. Willig & W. Stainton Rogers (Eds.), *The SAGE Handbook of Qualitative Research in Psychology* (pp. 541-560). SAGE Publications.
- Barrios, V.R., Khaw, L.B.L., Bermea, A., & Hardesty, J.L. (2020). Future Directions in Intimate Partner Violence Research: An Intersectionality Framework for Analyzing Women's Processes of Leaving Abusive Relationships. *Journal of interpersonal violence*, 26. doi: 10.1177/0886260519900939
- Bates, E. A., & Liu, W. M. (2020a). "No one would ever believe me": an exploration of the impact of intimate partner violence victimization on men. *Psychology of Men & Masculinity*, 21(4), 497-507. doi: 10.1037/men0000206

- Bates, E. A., & Liu, W. M. (2020b). "Walking on egg shells": a qualitative examination of men's experiences of intimate partner violence. *Psychology of Men & Masculinity*, 21, 13-24. doi: 10.1037/men0000203
- Bates, E.A. (2019). "I'm still afraid of her": Men's experiences of post-separation abuse.

 *Partner Abuse, 10, 336-358. doi: 10.11891/1946-6560.10.3.336
- Bates, E.A., Straus, M., & Winstok, Z. (2016). Current Controversies within Intimate Partner Violence: Overlooking Bidirectional Violence. *Journal of family violence*, *31*(8), 937-940.
- Bates, E.A., Weare, S., & O'Sullivan, C. (2020). Sexual Violence as a Form of Abuse in Men's Experiences of Female-Perpetrated Intimate Partner Violence. *Journal of contemporary criminal justice*, 36(4), 582-595. doi: 10.1177/1043986220936115
- Bell, K.M., & Naugle, A.E. (2008). Intimate partner violence theoretical considerations:

 Moving towards a contextual framework. *Clinical Psychology Review*, 28, 10961107. doi: 10.1016/j.cpr.2008.03.003
- Bentley, C., & Matthewson, M. (2020). The Not-Forgotten Child: Alienated Adult Children's Experience of Parental Alienation. *The American journal of family therapy*, 48(5), 509-529. doi: 10.1080/01926187.2020.1775531
- Braun, V., & Clarke, V. (2006) Using thematic analysis in psychology. *Qualitative Research* in *Psychology*, 3(2), 77-101. doi: 10.1191/1478088706qp063oa
- Braun, V., & Clarke, V. (2013). Successful Qualitative Research: A Practice Guide for Beginners. London: Sage Publications.

- Braun, V., & Clarke, V. (2019). "Reflecting of Reflexive Thematic Analysis." *Qualitative Research in Sport, Exercise, and Health*, 11(4), 589–597. doi: 10.1080/2159676X.2019.1628806
- Brooks, C., Martin, S., Broda, L., & Poudrier, J. (2017). "How Many Silences Are There?"

 Men's Experience of Victimization in Intimate Partner Relationships. *Journal of Interpersonal Violence*. https://doi.org/10.1177/0886260517719905
- Brown, S.M., Rhoades, G.K., Marti, N., & Lewis, T. (2021). The Co-Occurrence of Child Maltreatment and Intimate Partner Violence in Families: Effects on Children's Externalizing Behavior Problems. *Child maltreatment*. doi: 10.1177/1077559520985934
- Carlson, J., & Casey, E. (2018). Disjunctures in Experiences of Support During the

 Transition to Fatherhood of Men Who Have Used Intimate Partner Violence. *Journal*of interpersonal violence, 36(5-6). doi: 10.1177/0886260518769364
- Childress, S., Panchanadeswaran, S., & Joshi, M. (2021). Leaving and beyond: Voices of survivors of domestic violence from Kyrgyzstan. *Journal of interpersonal violence*, *36*(3-4), 1718-1744. doi: 10.1177/0886260517743550
- Ciurra, M. (2018). The Loss of Autonomy in Abused Persons: Psychological, Moral, and Legal Dimensions. *Humanities*, 7(2), 48. doi: 10.3390/h7020048
- Coker, A. L., Smith, P., McKeown, R., & King, M. (2000). Frequency and correlates of intimate partner violence by type: physical, sexual, and psychological battering.
 American Journal of Public Health, 90 (4), 553-559.

- Corbally, M. (2015). Accounting for intimate partner violence: A biographical analysis of narrative strategies used by men experiencing IPV from their female partners. *Journal of Interpersonal Violence*, 30(17), 3112-3132. doi: 10.1177/0886260514554429
- Creswell, J.W., & Poth, C.N. (2016). *Qualitative Inquiry and Research Design: Choosing Among Five Approaches*. SAGE Publications.
- De La Rue, L., Polanin, J.R., Espelage, D.L., & Pigott, T.D. (2017). A meta-analysis of school-based interventions aimed to prevent or reduce violence in teen dating relationships. *Review of educational research*, 87(1), 7-34. doi: 10.3102/0034654316632061
- Dixon, L & Graham Kevan, N. (2020). Assessing the risk and treatment needs of people who perpetrate intimate partner violence. In Wormith, J.S., Craig, L.A., & Hogue, T.E. (Eds.) *The Wiley Handbook of What Works in Violence Risk Management: Theory,**Research and Practice, First Edition. Hoboken, NJ: John Wiley & Sons Ltd.
- Dixon, L., & Graham-Kevan, N. (2011). Understanding the nature and etiology of intimate partner violence and implications for practice and policy. *Clinical Psychology Review*, 31(7), 1145-1155. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cpr.2011.07.001
- Dixon, L., Hamilton-Giachritsis, C., Browne, K., & Ostapuik, E. (2007). The Co-occurrence of Child and Intimate Partner Maltreatment in the Family: Characteristics of the Violent Perpetrators. *Journal of family violence*, 22(8), 675-689. doi: 10.1007/s10896-007-9115-x
- Dixon, L., Treharne, G. J., Celi, E. M., Hines, D., Lysova, A. V., & Douglas, E. M. (2020).

 Examining men's experiences of abuse from a female intimate partner in four

 English-speaking countries. *Journal of Interpersonal Violence*, 1-27. doi:

 https://doi.org/10.1177/0886260520922342

- Dobash, R. & Dobash, R. (2004). Women's violence to men in intimate relationships: working on a puzzle. *The British Journal of Criminology*, 44(3), 324-349.
- Dodgson, J.E. (2019). Reflexivity in Qualitative Research. *Journal of human lactation*, *35*(2), 220-222. doi: 10.1177/0890334419830990
- Donovan, R., & Vlais, R. (2005). VicHealth review of communication components of social marketing/public education campaigns focused on violence against women.

 Melbourne, Australia: Victorian Health Promotion Foundation.

 http://menengage.org/resources/vichealthreview-communications-components-social-marketingpublic-education-campaigns-focusing-violence-women/
- Douglas, E.M., Hines, D.A., & McCarthy, S.C. (2012). Men who sustain female-to-male partner violence: Factors associated with where they seek help and how they rate those resources. *Violence and Victims*, 27, 871-894. doi:10.1891/0886-6708.27.6.871
- Durfee, A. (2011). "I'm Not a Victim, She's an Abuser": Masculinity, Victimization, and Protection Orders. *Gender and Society*, 25(3), 316-334.
- Dutton, D.G. (2006). Rethinking domestic violence. Vancouver-Toronto: UBC Press
- Dziewa, A., & Glowacz, F. (2021). "Getting out from Intimate Partner Violence: Dynamics and Processes. A Qualitative Analysis of Female and Male Victims' Narratives".

 **Journal of Family Violence*, 1-14. doi: 10.1007/s10896-020-00245-2
- Edleson, J.L. (2001). Studying the co-occurrence of child maltreatment and domestic violence. In Graham-Berman, S.A., & Edleson, J.L. (Ed.). *Domestic Violence in the Lives of Children: The Future of Research, Intervention and Social Policy* (pp.91-110). Washington, D.C: American Psychological Association.

- Enander, V. (2011). Leaving Jekyll and Hyde: Emotion work in the context of intimate partner violence. *Feminism & psychology*, 21(1), 29-48. doi: 10.1177/0959353510384831
- Eriksson, L., & Mazerolle, P. (2015). A cycle of violence? Examining family-of-origin violence, attutides, and intimate partner violence perpetration. *Journal of interpersonal violence*, 30(6), 945-964. doi: 10.1177/0886260514539759
- Espinoza, R.C., & Warner, D. (2016). Where Do We Go from here?: Examining Intimate

 Partner Violence by Bringing Male Victims, Female Perpetrators, and Psychological

 Sciences into the Fold. *Journal of family violence*, 31(8), 959-966.
- Esquivel-Santovena, E. E., & Dixon, L. (2012). Investigating the true rate of physical intimate partner violence: a review of nationally representative surveys. *Aggression and Violent Behaviour*, 17 (3), 208-219. doi: 10.1016/j.avb.2012.02.002
- Family Violence Act 2018.
- Fine, M. (1985). Unearthing contradictions: An essay inspired by "women and male violence". *Feminist Studies*, 11(2), 391-407.
- Flasch, P., Murray, C.E., & Crowe, A. (2017). Overcoming Abuse: A Phenomenological Investigation of the Journey to Recovery From Past Intimate Partner Violence. *Journal of interpersonal violence*, 32(22), 3373-3401. doi: 10.1177/0886260515599161
- Follingstad, D. (2007). Rethinking current approaches to psychological abuse: conceptual and methodological issues. *Aggression and Violent Behaviour*, 1(4), 439-458.
- Frieze I.H., Newhill C.E., & Fusco R. (2020). *Dynamics of Family and Intimate Partner Violence*. Springer, Cham. doi: https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-42608-8_6

- Fritz, P. A., & O'Leary, K. D. (2004). Physical and psychological partner aggression across a decade: a growth curve analysis. *Violence and victims*, 19(1), 3-16. doi: 10.1891/088667004780842886
- Gammon, R. (2016). Family violence: New Zealand's dirty little secret.

 http://www.massey.ac.nz/massey/about-massey/news/article.cfm?mnarticle_uuid=C61AEFE4-B1D7-0794-48A1-CFA90FEDDEFF
- Gelo, O., Braakmann, D., & Benetka, G. (2008). Quantitative and Qualitative Research:

 Beyond the Debate. *Integr Psych Behav*, 42, 266-290. doi: 10.1007/s12124-008-9078-3
- Hartley, C.C. (2004). Severe domestic violence and child maltreatment: considering child physical abuse, neglect, and failure to protect. *Children and youth services review*, 26(4), 373-392. doi: 10.1016/j.childyouth.2004.01.005
- Heim, E., Aizen, I., Schmidt, P. & Seddig, D. (2018). Women's Decisions to Stay in or Leave an Abusive Relationship: Results From a Longitudinal Study in Bolivia. *Violence against women*, 24(14), 1639-1657. doi: 10.1177/1077801217741993
- Hellemans, S., Loeys, T., Dewitte, M., De Smet, O., & Buysse, A. (2015). Prevalence of Intimate Partner Violence Victimization and Victims' Relational and Sexual Well-Being. *Journal of family violence*, 30(6), 685-698. doi: 10.1007/s10896-015-9712-z
- Hines, D.A., & Douglas, E.M. (2016). Sexual Aggression Experiences Among Male Victims of Physical Partner Violence: Prevalence, Severity, and Health Correlates for Male Victims and Their Children. *Archives of sexual behavior*, 45(5), 1133-1151. doi: 10.1007/s10508-014-0393-0

- Hines, D.A., & Douglas, E.M. (2019). An empirical test of Johnson's Typology of intimate partner violence in two samples of men. *Partner Abuse*, *10*(2).
- Johnson, M.P. (1995). Patriarchal terrorism and common couple violence: two forms of violence against women. *Journal of Marriage and Family*, *57* (2), 283-294. doi: https://doi.org/10.2307/353683
- Johnson, M.P. (2006). Conflict and control: Gender symmetry and asymmetry in domestic violence. *Violence against women*, 12(11), 1003-1018.

 doi:10.1177/1077801206293328
- Johnson, M.P. (2008). Typology of Domestic Violence Intimate Terrorism, Violent

 Resistance, and Situational Couple Violence. Hanover: Northeastern University Press.
- Kahui, S., & Snively, S. (2014). *Measuring the economic costs of child abuse and intimate* partner violence to New Zealand. Wellington, NZ: MoreMedia Enterprises.
- Kaspiew, R., Taft, A., Nicholson, J., Qu, L., & Humphreys, C. (2017). *Domestic and family violence and parenting: Mixed method insights into impact and support needs: Final report*. https://www.anrows.org.au/project/mixed-method-insights-into-impact-and-support-needs/
- Khaw, L., & Hardesty, J.L. (2007). Theorizing the process of leaving: Turning points and trajectories in the stages of change. *Family relations*, 56(4), 413-425. doi: 10.1111/j.1741-3729.2007.00470.x
- Kimber, M., Adham, S., Gill, S., McTavish, J., & MacMillan, H.L. (2018). The association between child exposure to intimate partner violence (IPV) and perpetration of IPV in adulthood—A systematic review. *Child Abuse & Neglect*, *76*, 273-286. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chiabu.2017.11.007

- Krug, E., Dahlberg, L., Mercy, J., Zwi, A., & Lozano, R. (2002). World report on violence and health.

 https://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/handle/10665/42495/9241545615 eng.pdf?sequenc
 e=1
- Lagdon, S., Armour, C., & Stringer, M. (2014). Adult experience of mental health outcomes as a result of intimate partner violence victimisation: a systematic review. *European journal of psychotraumatology*, 5, 24794-12. doi: 10.3402/ejpt.v5.24794
- Laskey, P., Bates, E. A., & Taylor, J. C. (2019). A systematic literature review of intimate partner violence victimisation: An inclusive review across gender and sexuality.

 *Aggression and Violent Behavior, 47, 1–11.
- Lawrence, E., Yoon, J., Langer, A., & Ro, E. (2009). Is Psychological Aggression as

 Detrimental as Physical Aggression? The Independent Effects of Psychological

 Aggression on Depression and Anxiety Symptoms. *Violence and victims*, 24(1), 2035. doi: 10.1891/0886-6708.24.1.20
- Levesque, S., Bisson, V., Charton, L., & Fernet, M. (2020). Parenting and relational well-being during the transition to parenthood: Challenges for first-time parents. *Journal of child and family studies*, 29(7), 1938-1956. doi: 10.1007/s10826-020-01727-z
- Lien, M. I., & Lorentzen, J. (2019). *Men's Experiences of Violence in Intimate Relationships*.
- Lipsky, S. & Caetano, R. (2009). Definitions, surveillance systems, and the prevalence and incidence of intimate partner violence in the United States. (2009). In Whitaker, D., & Lutzker, J. (Eds.). *Preventing partner violence: Research and evidence-based intervention strategies* (pp. 17–40). American Psychological Association. https://doi.org/10.1037/11873-002

- Lysova, A. & Dim, E.E. (2020). Severity of Victimization and Formal Help Seeking Among Men Who Experienced Intimate Partner Violence in Their Ongoing Relationships.

 Journal of Interpersonal violence. doi: 10.1177/0886260520922352
- Lysova, A., Dim, E.E., & Dutton, D. (2019). Prevalence and consequences of intimate partner violence in Canada as measured by the National Victimization Survey.

 Partner Abuse, 10(2).
- Lysova, A., Hanson, K., Hines, D.A., Dixon, L., Douglas, E.M., & Celi, E.M. (2020). A

 Qualitative Study of the Male Victims' Experiences With the Criminal Justice

 Response to Intimate Partner Abuse in Four English-Speaking Countries. *Criminal Justice and Behavior*, 47(10), 1264-1281. doi: 10.1177/0093854820927442
- Machado, A., Graham-Kevan, N., Matos, M., & Anita Santos. (2016, August 31). Exploring Help Seeking Experiences of Male Victims of Female Perpetrators of IPV. *Journal of Family Violence*, 32, 515-523.
- Machado, A., Hines, D., & Douglas, E.M. (2020). Male victims of female-perpetrated partner violence: A qualitative analysis of men's experiences, the impact of violence, and perceptions of their worth. *Psychology of Men & Masculinities*, 21(4), 612-621. doi: 10.1037/men0000285
- Martin, J., Langley, J., & Millichamp, J. (2006). Domestic violence as witnessed by New Zealand children. *New Zealand medical journal*, *119*(1228), 1817-1817.
- McCarrick, J., Davis-McCabe, C., & Hirst-Winthrop, S. (2016). Men's Experiences of the Criminal Justice System Following Female Perpetrated Intimate Partner Violence. *Journal of Family Violence*, 31, 203-213.

- McGuigan, W.M., & Pratt, C.C. (2001). The predictive impact of domestic violence on three types of child maltreatment. *Child abuse & neglect*, 25(7), 869-883. doi: 10.1016/S0145-2134(01)00244-7
- Migliaccio, T. A. (2002). Abused Husbands: A Narrative Analysis. *Journal of Family Issues*, 23, 26-52.
- Mihalic, S.W., & Elliott, D. (1997). A social learning theory model of marital violence. *Journal of family violence*, 12(1), 21-47. doi: 10.1023/A:1021941816102
- Ministry of Justice (2019). New Zealand Victims of Crime Survey.

 https://www.justice.govt.nz/assets/Documents/Publications/NZCVS-Y2-A5-KeyFindings-v2.0-.pdf
- Ministry of Justice, (2021). Family Violence Offences Data Tables.

 https://www.justice.govt.nz/justice-sector-policy/research-data/justice-statistics/data-tables/#offence
- Ministry of Social Development (2007). The scale and nature of family violence in New Zealand: A review and evaluation of knowledge. https://www.msd.govt.nz/about-msd-and-our-work/publications-resources/research/scale-nature-family-violence/
- Moffitt, T.E., Caspi, A., Rutter, M., & Silva, P.A. (2001). Sex differences in antisocial behaviour: conduct disorder, delinquency, and violence in the Dunedin Longitudinal Study. Cambridge, U.K.: Cambridge University Press.
- Morgan, W., & Wells, M. (2016). 'It's deemed unmanly': men's experiences of intimate partner violence (IPV). *The Journal of Forensic Psychiatry & Psychology*, 27(3), 404-418. doi: 10.1080/14789949.2015.1127986

- Murphy, C., Paton, N., Gulliver, P., & Fanslow, J. (2013). *Understanding connections and relationships: Child maltreatment, intimate partner violence and parenting*.

 Auckland, New Zealand: New Zealand Family Violence Clearinghouse.

 https://nzfvc.org.nz/issues-papers-3
- Murray, C. E., Crowe, A., & Flasch, P. (2015). Turning Points: Critical Incidents Prompting Survivors to Begin the Process of Terminating Abusive Relationships. *The Family Journal*, 23(3), 228-238. doi: 10.1177/1066480715573705
- National Coalition Against Domestic Violence (2020). *Domestic violence*.

 https://assets.speakcdn.com/assets/2497/domestic_violence-
 2020080709350855.pdf?1596811079991
- Nayback-Beebe, A. M., & Yoder, L. H. (2012). The lived experiences of a male survivor of intimate partner violence: a qualitative case study. *Medsurg Nursing*, 21(2), 89-95.
- Neubauer, B.E., Witkop, C.T., & Varpio, L. (2019). How phenomenology can help us learn from the experiences of others. *Perspectives on Medical Education*, 8, 90-97.
- Nowell, L.S., Norris, J.M., White, D.E., & Moules, N.J. (2017). Thematic analysis: Striving to meet the trustworthiness criteria. *International Journal of Qualitative Methods*, 16, 1-13.
- Nybergh, L., Enander, V., & Krantz, G. (2015). Theoretical considerations on men's experiences of intimate partner violence: an interview-based study. *Journal of family violence*, 31, 191-202. doi: 10.1007/s10896-015-9785-8
- Osofsky, J.D. (2003). Prevalence of Children's Exposure to Domestic Violence and Child Maltreatment: Implications for Prevention and Intervention. *Clinical child and family psychology review*, 6(3), 161-170. doi: 10.1023/A:1024958332093

- Outlaw, M. (2009). No one type of intimate partner abuse: Exploring physical and non-physical abuse among intimate partners. Journal of Family Violence, 24(4), 263-272. doi: 10.1007/s10896-009-9228-5
- Panuzio, J., & DiLillo, D. (2010). Physical, Psychological, and Sexual Intimate Partner

 Aggression Among Newlywed Couples: Longitudinal Prediction of Marital

 Satisfaction. *Journal of family violence*, 25(7), 689-699. doi: 10.1007/s10896-010-9328-2
- Perryman, S. M. & Appleton, J. (2016). Male victims of domestic abuse: implications for health visiting practice. *Journal of Research in Nursing*, 21(506), 386-414.
- Pocock, M., Jackson, D., & Bradbury-Jones, C. (2020). Intimate partner violence and the power of love: A qualitative systematic review. *Health care for women international*, 41(6), 621-646. doi: 10.1080/07399332.2019.1621318
- Poustie, C., Matthewson, M., & Balmer, S. (2018). The Forgotten Parent: The Targeted Parent Perspective of Parental Alienation. *Journal of family issues*, *39*(12), 3298-3323. doi: 10.1177/0192513x18777867
- Reeves, C., & O'Leary-Kelly, A. M. (2007). The Effects and Costs of Intimate Partner

 Violence for Work Organizations. *Journal of Interpersonal Violence*, 22(3), 327–

 344. doi: https://doi.org/10.1177/0886260506295382
- Sandelowski, M. (2004). Using qualitative research. *Qualitative Health Research*, *14*, 1366-1386. https://doi.org/10.1177/1049732304269672
- Scheffer Lindgren, M., & Renck, B. (2008). Intimate partner violence and the leaving process: Interviews with abused women. *International journal of qualitative studies on health and well-being*, *3*(2), 113-124. doi: 10.1080/17482620801945805

- Sher, L. (2015). Parental alienation: the impact on men's health. *International journal of adolescent medicine and health*, 29(3), 1. doi: 10.1515/ijamh-2015-0083
- Sita, T., & Dear, G. (2021). Four Case Studies Examining Male Victims of Intimate Partner Abuse. *Journal of aggression, maltreatment & trauma, 30*(1), 3-24. doi: 10.1080/10926771.2019.1709593
- Smith, S. G., Zhang, X., Basile, K. C., Merrick, M. T., Wang, J., Kresnow, M., & Chen, J. (2018). The National Intimate Partner and Sexual Violence Survey (NISVS): 2015

 Data Brief Updated Release.

 https://www.cdc.gov/violenceprevention/pdf/2015data-brief508.pdf
- Smith-Marek, E.N., Cafferky, B., Dharnidharka, P., Mallory, A.B., Dominguez, M., High, J., Stith, S.M., & Mendez, M. (2015). Effects of childhood experiences of family violence on adult partner violence: a meta-analytic review. *Journal of family theory & review*, 7(4), 498-519. doi: 10.1111/jftr.12113
- Stephens, T.N. (2020). "Two Hours on a Sunday": Fatherhood Following an Intimate Partner Violence Incident-A Theory of Excision. *Journal of interpersonal violence*. doi: 10.1177/0886260520976214
- Sternberg, K.J., Baradaran, L.P., Abbott, C.B., Lamb, M.E., & Guterman, E.E. (2006). Type of violence, age, and gender differences in the effects of family violence on children's behaviour problems: A meta-analysis. *Developmental Review*, 26, 75-88.
- Stockdale, L., Tackett, S., & Coyne, S. M. (2013). Sex differences in verbal aggression use in romantic relationships: a meta-analytic study and review. *Journal of Aggression*,

 Conflict and Peace Research, 5 (3), 167-178. doi: 10.1108/JACPR-09-2012-0003

- Straus, M. (2009). Gender symmetry in partner violence: evidence and implications for prevention and treatment. In *Preventing partner violence: Research and evidence-based intervention strategies*, by Whitaker, D. & Lutzker, J. (eds). Washington, DC, US.
- Straus, M., & Gelles, R. (1999). *Physical violence in American families: risk factors and adaptations to violence in 8145 families*. Transaction publishers, New Jersey.
- Terry, G., Hayfield, N., Clarke, V., & Braun, V. (2017). Thematic analysis. In C. Willig & W. Stainton Rogers (Eds.), *The SAGE Handbook of Qualitative Research in Psychology* (pp. 17-37). SAGE Publications.
- Tilbrook, E., Allan, A. & Dear, G. (2010). *Intimate partner abuse of men*.

 https://www.ecu.edu.au/ data/assets/pdf file/0007/685276/10 Tilbrook Final-Report.pdf
- Trainor, L.R., & Bundon, A. (2020). Developing the craft: reflexive accounts of doing reflexive thematic analysis. *Qualitative research in sport, exercise and health*, 1-22. doi: 10.1080/2159676X.2020.1840423
- Voisin, D.R., & Hong, J.S. (2012). A meditational model linking witnessing intimate partner violence and bullying behaviors and victimization among youth. *Educational* psychology review, 24(4), 479-498. doi: 10.1007/s10648-012-9197-8
- Ulloa, E.C., Hammett, J.F., Guzman, M.L., & Hokoda, A. (2015). Psychological growth in relation to intimate partner violence: A review. *Aggression and violent behaviour*, 25, 88-94. doi: 10.1016/j.avb.2015.07.007

- Van Niel M.S. (2021) Overview of Intimate Partner Violence. In Bailey R.K. (ed). *Intimate Partner Violence* (pp.1-5). Springer, Cham. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-55864-2
 2 1
- Vickerman, K.A. & Margolin, G. (2008). Trajectories of Physical and Emotional Marital Aggression in Midlife Couples. *Violence and victims*, 23(1), 18-34. doi: 10.1891/0886-6708.23.1.18
- Walker, A., Lyall, K., Silva, D., Craigie, G., Mayshak, R., Costa, B., Hyder, S., & Bentley, A. (2019). Male Victims of Female-Perpetrated Intimate Partner Violence, Help-Seeking, and Reporting Behaviors: A Qualitative Study. *Psychology of Men & Masculinities*. doi: http://dx.doi.org/10.1037/men0000222
- Walker, L.E.A. (2017). *The battered woman syndrome* (Fourth Edition.). New York: Springer Publishing Company.
- Wood, S. L., & Sommers, M. S. (2011). Consequences of Intimate Partner Violence on children: a systematic review of the literature. *Journal of Child and Adolescent Psychiatric Nursing*, 24(4), 223-236. doi: 10.1111/j.1744-6171.2011.00302.x

Appendices

Appendix A: Full interview schedule

INTERVIEW SCHEDULE

Participant Demographic details
Interview #
Interview Pseudonym used
- Age
- Gender
- Sexuality
- Ethnicity
- Occupation
- Education level achieved
For Māori participants:
Where do you come from?
Do you know your hapu? If so, please say
Do you know your iwi? If so, please say

INTERVIEW SCHEDULE FOR PEOPLE WHO ARE RECRUITED FOR THEIR

<u>VICTIMISATION</u> FROM AN INTIMATE PARTNER

(open ended questions and non-stigmatising language is used to gain the participant's experience rather than researcher led answers – prompts (rounded bullets) may be used where necessary to cover some key material).

Example Introduction

- I am really interested in talking to you today so that I can learn about your experiences with your partner, as I understand it, that you have experienced some aggression in the relationship in the past. Is that correct? Are you happy to talk to me about this?
- So I would like to start by getting to understand a little bit about your relationship with a partner from whom you have experienced some kind of harm. Some people have experiences like this with more than one partner. Is there a particular partner you would you be willing to discuss with me?
- Without telling me their real name, can you tell me a little bit about them?
 - o Partner gender/age/sexuality/ethnicity/occupation/education
- Can you describe what that relationship with this person was like to me?
 - o How long were you with your partner? Are you still together?
 - What were/are your living arrangement with them?
 - What was good about it / anything not so good about it?
 - What did you do together? What did you do separately?
 - o Do you have children together? Step children?
 - What was your relationship like with them?
 - What was your partner's relationship like with them?
- When there was aggression in the relationship, what kinds of things would your partner do to you?

 (prompt about physical aggression, controlling behaviours, sexual coercion and aggression, psychological abuse, weapons, injury)

Exploring a typical event

- I know you have said you have experienced some issues around aggression with your partner. I want you to think about a typical event that would happen
- Can you think of one of these instances and talk me through what this would look like? What happened and what led to this happening?
 - O Can you think about the moments when there was aggression between you and your partner? What did they do? What did you do? (prompt about physical aggression, controlling behaviours, sexual coercion and aggression, psychological abuse, weapons, injury)
 - o What was happening during the incident?
 - What would happen in the week leading up to this behaviour does anything stand out as important to you?
 - What about the hour of half hour before?
 - What about immediately before the behaviour took place?
 - o How or why did it come to an end?
 - What happened directly after the incident took place?
 - o How often would this kind of thing happen?

Children

- Where any children present at the time of the incidents? If so how do you think this event appeared to them?
 - O What may they have heard and/or seen?

- Were they caught up in any aggression?
 - Where there any consequences for the child(ren)
- How did this affect you and partner?

Explanation

- Why do you think this kind of event happened?

Understanding their own experiences over time

- When these things first happened, how did you feel about them?
 - Did you think it was ok or not ok?
 - o What did you call them?
 - for example, did you label them abuse or did you refer it in some other way?
 - o Did you justify it in any way? If so, how?
- How do you feel about it now?
 - Do you think it was ok or not ok?
 - What do you call those behaviours now?
 - How did you get to the point of understanding this behaviour as abusive?
 - o How would you explain it to someone now?

Most serious and memorable event

- I want you to think about an incident that took place that really sticks in your mind as
the worst or more serious event

- What happened?
 - What did your partner do? What did you do? (prompt about physical aggression, controlling behaviours, sexual coercion and aggression, psychological abuse, weapons, injury)
 - O What was happening during the incident?
 - How were you getting on with your partner around the time of your index offence?
 - The week before / the day before / the day the incident happened?
 - What happened in the week leading up to this event does anything stand out as important to you?
 - Did anything happen at work/at home/with friends etc?
 - o Can you talk me through what happened that day?
 - What about the hour before and half hour before?
 - What about immediately before the behaviour took place?
 - How or why did it come to an end?
 - What happened directly after the incident took place?
 - How often did this kind of thing happen?

Children

- Where any children present at the time of the incidents? If so how do you think this event appeared to them?
 - O What may they have heard and/or seen?
 - Were they caught up in any aggression?
 - Where there any consequences for the child(ren)
 - o How did this affect you and partner?

Explanation

- Why do you think this event happened?

Helpseeking

- Did <u>you</u> tell any of your friends or family or work colleagues about what was going on with you and your partner? Can you tell me about that
 - o who and why, what prompted you to tell them, what reaction did you get
 - o or why not?
- Did you ever seek any kind of professional help or assistance? For example, calling the
 police, a domestic violence hotline or agency, or a mental health worker? Can you tell
 me about that
 - o who and why, what prompted you to tell them, what reaction did you get
 - o or why not)?
- What might have encouraged you to confide in a friend or family member earlier?
- What might have encouraged you to call, contact, or approach a professional service earlier?

Appendix B: Initial code generation

Comments	Transcript		
Overlooking warning	[Extract 1]		
signs	A: Um, it was generally volatile. Um, yeah, when, er it I		
Ignored early red flags	probably thinking back I probably saw signs that it wouldn't be, um,		
in the relationship;	a long-term thing [laughs] to say the least, and but, um, sometimes		
didn't realise that it	you don't sort of like think these three things through and you don't		
would become	realise how thing bad things will be.		
abusive.			
Unsuccessful	[Extract 2]		
disclosure	A: I don't know, 'cause I had a point, but, um, the thing - so,		
Reaching out to	because she wouldn't communicate it with me, I went to her family for		
partner's family when	support. So, so that's round then, so, if there's any So, I keep going		
he couldn't resolve	to her dad, her mum, or her brothers, and like, "Guys, I need some help		
aggression himself.	here." You know, "Have you seen this before?" And they were exactly		
Unwilling to get	the same. They were like they were like, "No, [Name], it's all good.		
involved; seen as a	You know, we're all whānau here, we'll just keep it in the house."		
private problem.	Quote. I always got the same comment: it's in-house.		

Appendix C: Table of compiled codes

CODE	DATA EXTRACTS		
Overlooked early	"To start off with it was actually a fairly healthy relationship, probably the		
warning signs	first one I'd had in a long time. Um, sure I could tell she had a few issues,		
	because of what her past was like, but who doesn't? Who doesn't have a		
	past that comes with baggage? I figured over time we'd work on that		
	together."		
	- P55, pg. 2		
	"I probably thinking back I probably saw signs that it wouldn't be, um,		
	a long-term thing [laughs] to say the least, and but, um, sometimes you		
	don't sort of like think these three things through and you don't realise		
	how thing bad things will be."		
	- P21, pg. 2		
Positive	"It's the ffirst first person I'd truly connected with in my life, female-		
beginnings	wise. First one I was I was so loyal, you know, just II would nev yeah. First time I was really connected - well, I thought I had."		
	- P45, pg. 48		
	"We had a baby girl. [] Um, and we celebrated and everything. People		
	normally frown when you have a girl but I was happy. So [] I was		
	happy as everything. Um, yeah, and, um, so, things went well. []		
	Everything, yeah, it was really good."		
	- P8, pg. 11		

Appendix D: Table of refined codes and descriptions

Code Name	Description	Supporting Quotes/Data Extracts
Significant	The aggression noticeably	"Um, but yes, just as soon as she
event	escalated/became more	became pregnant it was, er, "Fuck off,
	severe after a significant	go sleep in the other room, you're just
	commitment had occurred in	like every other man who wants to take
	their relationship, such as	something from me." And it was it
	becoming pregnant, moving	just became really gnarly."
	in together, or purchasing a	- P17, pg. 3
	house together.	
Overlooked	Men reported a series of	"I probably thinking back I probably
early warning	aggressive, inappropriate, or	saw signs that it wouldn't be, um, a
signs	"odd" behaviours during the	long-term thing [laughs] to say the least,
	early stages of their	and but, um, sometimes you don't
	relationship that were later	sort of like think these three things
	recognised as red flags for	through and you don't realise how
	future aggression.	thing bad things will be."
		- P21, pg. 2